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Corporate Information
NEIEH
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Group Structure

REBEREE

As at 22 March 2024 RZZZWMF=F=+=H

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Ltd.

RinRAIER)BR AR
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RASESTMAZHERAR)

(HKEX Stock Code: 2348)
(BB AT R5% - 2348)

100%

Dawnrays International Co. Ltd.
Rin B BR AR

(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(RERBER RS TMRINBERAR)

100%

A4

100%

v

Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd.
B AEMRERRECMERAA

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(REBEME AR RE])

35%

Dawnrays International Company Limited
RinEERRHBRA A
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(REBFM AR AE])

\ AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.* 1
D ERERE S (ER)RAARAT

100%

100%

Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd.
RIGRH(BE)ERAR

Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
BN ImBEE AR A A

R BABRRRR DT (ER)BEAR QRSB ATILET EMBREARAR
R EEETD -

* Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd. is just established and not yet in

RN RIR B SRR S AR ARRMKILIIARFGEE -

* IR EERGEMABRARNN - ME— ANBER R ANEEER AR K

100% 100% 65% 100%
\ 4
. Nanjing PharmaRays Suzhou Dawnrays
Fujian Dawnrays Lanzhou Dawnrays JS(gence and Y Pharmaceuticali
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Technology Co., Ltd Trading Co., Ltd. *
EERERASRAR B EA AT BREE AR AT TR RE B HR AT
100%
A
Guangzhou PharmaRays

*Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd. entered a share transfer agreement with Akeso Science and
Biopharma Co., Ltd. on 8 February 2024 to transfer 35% interest share of AD Pharmaceuticals. Technology Co., Ltd.
Co. Ltd. to Akeso Biopharma Co., Ltd. and the relevant equity transfer procedure is under L 3 2 T A R ; A=
SO e, BN EER BB AR

LEEEe

operation.
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GROUP RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB1,151,145,000 (2022: RMB1,277,682,000),
representing a decrease of 9.9% as compared with 2022. Profit
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB326,000,000
(2022: RMB358,057,000), representing a decrease of 9.0% as compared
with 2022,

Profit attributable to owners of the parent included a net gain of
RMB118,858,000 on the disposal of the assets arising from the relocation
Group’s factory on Tianling Road, a loss of RMB40,933,000 on the
investment in AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., an associated company
(2022: RMB61,905,000), and a non-recurring item, which is the exchange
loss of RMB1,879,000 from the liquidation of Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (“Dawnrays (Nantong)”).
If the above factors are excluded, the operating profit would be
RMB249,954,000 (2022: RMB380,292,000), representing a decrease of
34.3% as compared with 2022. This was mainly attributable to the impact
on the decrease in sales revenue and the rise in production costs resulting
from project relocation and loss of bids for centralized procurement
products, as well as the increase in administrative expenses and research
and development costs due to the newly established research institute and

Lanzhou Dawnrays.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.065 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$0.073), totaling
approximately HK$97,516,000 (2022: approximately HK$109,412,000)
(equivalent to approximately RMB89,670,000 (2022: approximately
RMB95,975,000)), to the shareholders whose names appeared in the
register of members on Friday, 31 May 2024 subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming 2024 Annual General Meeting (the “2024
AGM”).

The dividend for the year will be HK$0.08 per share, comprising the
proposed final dividend of HK$0.065 per share and the interim dividend of
HK$0.015 per share paid on 5 October 2023. The annual dividend payout
ratio was approximately 34.0%, representing a year-on-year increase of 1.6
percentage points.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE
BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, the external economic adversity continued to impact the business
environment. The world entered a cycle of interest rate hikes, with the US
dollar appreciating and geopolitical situations remaining unclear. The prices
of raw materials and logistics costs continued to rise, affecting production
costs. The economy in China began to gradually recover from the impact
of the pandemic. The National 14th Five-Year Plan for Pharmaceutical
Development drove the optimization, integration, and high-quality
development of the pharmaceutical industry, promoting enterprises to
become more high-end, intelligent, green, and international.
Pharmaceutical companies with integrated advantages in research,
production, and marketing continue to benefit from the industry’s
consolidation and upgrade, and continue to grow and develop. Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical is accelerating its pace in research and development,
production, and sales to adapt to and align with the national development
planning.

During the reporting period, in terms of production, the factory on
Shanfeng Road (“Shanfeng Road Factory”) of the Company’s indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) and Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Lanzhou Dawnrays ”) have completed their
construction and entered the trial production and verification stages.
However, the relocation and cessation of production of the factory on
Tianling Road of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical have affected the
supply, leading to a decline in the sales of bulk medicines and
intermediates. Despite these challenges, the Group is still optimistic about
the prospects of intermediates and bulk medicines. Policies such as the
over-10-year restriction on antibiotics, continued upgraded environmental
requirements and consistency evaluations have led to the phase-out of
numerous pharmaceutical companies that lack of comprehensive strength,
reducing supply and consequently driving a continuous rise in the price of
antibiotic bulk medicines. As the production workshops of Sulbactam
Sodium and Cefoperazone Sodium at Shanfeng Road passed the GMP
compliance inspection and were officially put into operation on 13 March
2024, the production and supply of intermediates and bulk medicines will
be increased. Currently, Lanzhou Dawnrays and the Shanfeng Road
Factory are actively engaged in preparing recordation documents for bulk
medicines for customers and in overseas registration, thereby accelerating
the development of export business and moving towards
internationalization. At the same time, the factories provide a pilot
workshop for the Group’s research and development projects to more
effectively manage research and development progress. During 2023, the
factory on Minfeng Road underwent renovations to add different dosage
forms, including bottling lines and external preparation production lines, in
preparation for new research and development projects or CMO projects.
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In terms of sales, the products that won the bid in the first batch of national
centralized procurement of drugs, including Amlodipine Besylate Tablets,
Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets, and Entecavir Dispersible Tablets, were
subsequently opened up for re-bidding among multiple companies after
their contracts expired. The intense competition led to the loss of some
market share in the provinces where they originally won the bids, resulting
in a decline in sales volume. To mitigate the loss in sales, the Group
actively participated in re-bidding processes across various locations to
capture market share outside of the original bid-winning areas. As a result,
although the sales revenue for Entecavir Dispersible Tablets saw a slight
decline compared to the same period in 2022, the total sales volume
increased compared to the same period in 2022. The decrease in sales
volume of Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets was less than expected. The re-
bidding of centralized procurement in other regions also provided new
growth opportunities for Febuxostat Tablets and Rosuvastatin Tablets,
which had missed the first round of centralized procurement. By
introducing a wider range of packaging specifications and continuously
broadening retail distribution channels, the Febuxostat Tablets which were
not included in the centralized procurement have also experienced
increased sales. The Group’s product, Cefoperazone Sodium and
Sulbactam Sodium for Injection (1:1), successfully won the bid in the eighth
batch of national centralized procurement of drugs, allowing the once-
neglected antibiotic to re-enter public hospitals. Azithromycin for
Suspension, which has seen increased demand due to the peak flu
season, also successfully won the bid in the ninth batch of national
centralized procurement of drugs. It is expected to bring significant growth
over the next four years. Moreover, the sales channels for Azithromycin for
Suspension are not limited to hospitals. It is anticipated that winning the
bid in centralized procurement will also boost retail business beyond the
scope of centralized procurement. Levamlodipine Besylate Tablets under
the “An (%)” Series did not make it into centralized procurement, while
Losartan Potassium & Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets being carried out first
centralized procurement, despite winning the bid by Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical, its market share was divided among other competitors,
resulting in a significant drop in sales volume compared to the same period
last year. Additionally, the sales volume for Amlodipine Besylate Tablets,
which had won in the first batch of centralized procurement, declined due
to the expiration of the procurement contract, compared to the same
period last year. Therefore, the sales revenue for the “An (%)” Series saw
a decrease of 22.8% compared to the same period in 2022. Beyond
hospital services, the Group’s marketing team has proactively expanded
the product retail business outside centralized procurement. By leveraging
our presence in areas where we previously won centralized procurement
bids, we are stimulating growth in the secondary and tertiary end markets.
We are actively establishing sales channels in the retail market and
continuously expanding cooperation with chain pharmacies, aiming to
increase the coverage of our retail business. The proportion of our retail
endpoints continues to grow. In addition to the centralized procurement
model, the Group’s Metformin Hydrochloride Extended-release Tablets lI,
which have been included in the National Reimbursement Drug List,
officially hit the market in March 2023. They quickly entered medical
institutions of all levels to drive sales growth. Within 9 months of launching,
they have covered over 1,000 medical institutions and are listed in 24
provinces.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Regarding research and development, to integrate the R&D teams of the
Company'’s indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries Fujian Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Dawnrays”), Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical, Lanzhou Dawnrays, and the indirectly non-wholly-owned
subsidiary Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing PharmaRays”), and to optimize R&D resources, the Suzhou
Dawnrays Advanced Technology Research Institute* (& /M R 3 5t 1 5 1i7
W 3ThT) (“Research Institute”) was established, with its unveiling ceremony
taking place in April 2023. The first Dawnrays Pharma Drug R&D and
Results Transformation Innovation Taihu Forum®* (58 3 &Y %% %5 4 ff 3% B2
Rz AT A H5%18) was held. The event attracted experts and scholars
from the pharmaceutical industry to gather at Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical, marking the first step for the Group in creating a new drug
R&D and information sharing center. Since the establishment of the
Research Institute, a group of talented individuals has been recruited. All
new projects do not require outsourced research and development.
Currently, 59% of R&D projects are self-developed, with the focus
remaining on generic drugs. The main focus is on developing the first or
top three generics drugs and improved innovative drugs to enrich
Dawnray’s product line. In addition, potential antibiotic bulk medicines are
being screened for consistency evaluation studies to prepare for the next

round of Centralized Procurement.

During the reporting period, the National Medical Products Administration
of China has accepted the New Drug Application for monoclonal antibody
agent ebronucimab (PCSK9 monoclonal antibody) (AK102) on 30 June
2028, which is developed by AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“AD
Pharmaceuticals”), a joint venture enterprise established by the Group.
Phase Il clinical work was carried out for clinical trials for Class | new drug
registration of Pulocimab (AK109). On 8 February 2024, the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Limited
entered into a share transfer agreement with Akeso Biopharma Co., Ltd.
(“Akeso Biopharma”), pursuant to which 35% equity interest in AD
Pharmaceuticals was transferred to Akeso Biopharma. For details, please
refer to the announcement published by the Company on the website of
the Stock Exchange on 9 February 2024.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, healthcare reform will continue to progress towards the
Healthy China 2030 initiative, taking multiple measures and constantly
updating them. Among them, the price of quality-assured drugs drop and
the operation model and regulations of the pharmaceutical market will be
reshaped to achieve an increasingly parallel supply and price, and
reasonably reduce public medical expenditure. As more varieties of drugs
will enter the national centralized procurement system, the centralized
procurement business model is the most important model for sales of
generic drugs in hospitals. The retail prices of products will gradually
converge with centralized procurement prices, prompting enterprises to
seek more transparent and cost-effective sales strategies and marketing
channels. In terms of environmental protection, the central government will
also formulate more regulations aimed at achieving the carbon peak by
2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060. Enterprises will need to invest more
resources in production facilities to comply with these environmental
regulations, which will increase the pressure on production costs.

The Group will continue, as always, to face the future actively and
optimistically. With Dawnray’s good corporate governance and pragmatic
operations, we will keep recruiting excellent talent to bring new ideas and
energy to the Company, increase investment in R&D, and renovate
workshop facilities to expedite the introduction of new products to the
market. At the same time, we will conduct lean production under the
principle of prioritizing product quality, aiming to improve production
capacity and control production costs, thereby enhancing the market
competitiveness and operational efficiency of Dawnray’s products. We will
closely monitor market developments, flexibly adjust marketing strategies,
deeply explore the end market to expand the coverage of our products,
and actively develop overseas markets. With Dawnray’s solid financial
strength, the Group will be able to maintain stable business growth and
create reasonable investment returns for the Company’s shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The year 2023 marked the 20th anniversary of the listing of the Company
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. | would like to take this opportunity to
express my heartfelt thanks to the shareholders, directors of the Company,
partners, managers and employees of the Group for their support to me
and the Group in the past year.

By order of the Board

Li Kei Ling
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmR DN
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the reporting period, the economy of China recovered and the
pharmaceutical market was stable with movement in a positive direction. In
the eighth and ninth batches of national tender process for centralized
procurement, three products of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical, namely
“Xianshu” (Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection: 1:1),
“Lemidi” (Losartan Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets) and “Peidi”
(Azithromycin for Suspension) won the bids. During the reporting period,
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical, successfully completed the move out
of the factory area on Tianling Road, and the “Suzhou Dawnrays Advanced
Technology Research Institute” was formally established. The verification
work of the factory area at Shanfeng Road of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical was carried out smoothly, and the overseas registration of
Lanzhou Dawnrays was progressing steadily. However, affected by the
relocation of the factories of bulk medicines and intermediates and the
centralized procurement of “Anneixi” (Losartan Potassium and
Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets) and “Anmeiping” (Levamlodipine Besylate
Tablets), the overall sales of the Group in 2023 was decreased by 9.9% as
compared with the same period of the previous year. Of which, the sales
volume and amount of anti-hypertensive drugs in “An” (%) series products
decreased by 28.1% and 22.8% respectively, as compared with the same
period of 2022; the sales volume and amount of Fujian Dawnrays series
products which are mainly used for treating hyperlipidemia decreased
by 3.7% and 5.9% respectively, as compared with the same period
of 2022; the sales volume and amount of anti-allergic drugs “Xikewei”
(FE AT &) and “Xikexin” (78 ] ¥) decreased by 16.1% and 22.6% respectively,
as compared with the same period of 2022; the sales volume and amount
of Entecavir Dispersible Tablets, an anti-HBV drug respectively increased
by 3.2% and decreased by 6.2% as compared with the same period of
2022.

Among the antibiotic series products, as “Xianshu” (Cefoperazone Sodium
and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection: 1:1) won the bid in the national
centralized procurement, the sales volume of powder for injection
increased by 121.7% and the sales amount increased by 143.4% as
compared with the same period of 2022; cephalosporin for oral was
affected by production capacity, with sales volume decreased by 18.4%
and sales amount decreased by 12.2% as compared with the same period
of 2022; The sales volume of cephalosporin intermediates and bulk
medicines decreased by 6.5% and the sales volume decreased by 7.8%
as compared with the same period of 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, the Group faced with the situation of multiple winning bids
for the centralized procurement in alliance member regions. In response to
the rapid changes in the market, the marketing management people
appropriately adjusted the Group’s product marketing ideas and sales
strategies and strengthened the allocation of resources to explore new
markets. Meanwhile, the Group made market development arrangements
for new products, promoted the continuous development of the second
and third end markets through the bid-winning of centralized procurement,
continuously expanded the depth of cooperation with chain pharmacies,
explored new business models such as pharmaceutical e-commerce,
drove the Group’s profitability in multiple rounds, and strove to achieve
reasonable growth in the sales of its drugs in 2024, so as to contribute to
the profit of the Group.

ANTI-HYPERTENSIVE PRODUCTS

The Group has advantages in anti-hypertensive series of products.
Through more than 20 years of deep engagement of the Group in the
pharmaceutical market, the series of products had a good brand
reputation among doctors and patients with hypertension. Based on the
Group’s integration of the survey data of market research institutions,
“Anneizhen” (Z W E) was ranked in the leading position among similar
products on the second and third market terminals in many cities and
provinces in terms of sales, and gained considerable market shares. The
sales of the series of products were RMB424,186,000 in 2023 (2022:
RMB549,229,000), accounting for 36.8% of the sales of the Group. In the
future, the Group’s marketing management team will focus more on brand
planning, channel building, price adjustment and academic promotion of
the “An” (&
access design of products for different markets by closely following up

) series products, improve product diversity, strengthen the

national policies related to chronic disease management, and further
explore the new market.

ANTI-HYPERLIPIDEMIC PRODUCTS

Anti-hyperlipidemic products are products newly developed by the Group.
During the year, with the national centralized procurement and centralized
procurement in alliance member regions, there was a substantial increase
in the retail markets of sales of Fujian Dawnrays’s Atorvastatin Calcium
Tablets. The sales of the anti-hyperlipidemic products were
RMB292,331,000 (2022: RMB310,502,000), accounting for 25.4% of the
sales of the Group. The Group ranked in leading position in the sales
market in China in terms of such sales.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBENmEDON

ANTIVIRAL PRODUCTS

The antiviral products are covered by the traditional treatment sector of the
Group. With the “unique cyclodextrin inclusion technology”, Entecavir
Dispersible Tablets of the Group have a good reputation among doctors
and patients. During the year, the sales of the products in China were
RMB124,828,000 (2022: RMB133,005,000), accounting for 10.8% of the
sales of the Group, which was better than expectations, due to winning
the bid for centralized procurement of drugs in national alliance member
regions. The Group ranked in leading position in the sales market in China

in terms of such sales.

POWDER FOR INJECTION

After years of sluggish adjustment, the antibiotic injection has shown a
steady recovery in recent years. During the year, the “Xianshu”
(Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection 1:1) won the
bid for the eighth batch of national centralized procurement, and the
volume increased. With the continuous passing of the consistency
evaluation of other powder injections, it will bring new profit growth points
to the Group in the future.

INTERMEDIATES AND BULK MEDICINES

During the year, the bulk medicines production base of Lanzhou Dawnrays
was completed and put into operation. The relocation project of Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. has been completed, and the new
production workshops for cefoperazone sodium and sulbactam sodium
have successfully completed the GMP certification and acceptance of bulk
medicines in December 2023 and obtained notification of passing GMP
compliance inspection on 13 March 2024. The Group was actively carried
out the Related review and filing for bulk medicines and overseas
registration declaration work for intermediates to further increase the
market share, thus laying a solid foundation for the future sales of bulk

medicines and intermediates.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRODUCT RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group formally established the Suzhou Dawnrays Advanced
Technology Research Institute in April 2023 to coordinate with and
manage the technical R&D teams of the subsidiaries of Dawnrays Group,
integrate the technical forces in the R&D of generic drugs and new drugs,
and improve the Group’s R&D level. Meanwhile, the Research Institute will
become a cooperation platform for the Group to introduce new drug
research and development. Through years of continuous investment in
research and development, the Group maintains the launch of new
products every year, adding new momentum to the Group’s future
development.

Apart from the description in the following section of “NEW PRODUCTS
AND PATENT LICENSING”, the Group’s ongoing projects cover the
therapeutic areas of the circulatory system, digestive system, endocrine
system, ophthalmology, dermatology, pediatrics, orthopedics, gynecology,
antiviral drugs, etc., and involve bio-pharmaceuticals, polypeptide drugs,
chemical pharmaceuticals, etc. The Group will continuously invest more
resources in the research and innovation of production technology and
products, for developing generics of the system specific medicines,
exploring Class 3 drugs and some innovative drugs and seeking various
scientific research cooperation opportunities to optimize product structure
and profit base.

CONSISTENCY EVALUATION

As of 31 December 2023, according to statistics by product specification,
the Group conducted quality and efficacy research on 32 varieties, the
applications for 20 varieties (namely Entecavir Dispersible Tablets (0.5mg),
Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (5mg), Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (2.5mg),
Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets (5mg), Cetirizine Hydrochloride
Tablets (10mg), Metformin Hydrochloride Tablet (250mg), Azithromycin
Tablets (250mgq), Clarithromycin Tablets (2560mg), Telmisartan Tablets
(40mg), Telmisartan Tablets (80mg), Cefprozil Tablets (250mg),
Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection (1.0g),
Cefoperazone Sodium for Injection (1.0g), Azithromycin for Suspension
(0.1g), Losartan Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets
(50mg/12.5mgq), Ceftriaxone Sodium for Injection (1.0g), Cefmetazole
Sodium for Injection (0.5g), Cefmetazole Sodium for Injection (1.0g),
Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection (2:1) (1.59))
and Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection (2:1) (3.0g)
were approved. The applications for consistency evaluation for 11 varieties
have been submitted to the Center for Drug Evaluation, NMPA. Moreover,
pharmaceutical research into 1 of such varieties is ongoing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmR DM

OTHER MATTERS

During the year, the Group continued improving production, safety,
product quality, human resources, compliance management, information,
internal audit etc., and endeavored to enhance the risk control capability
and improve the operating level of various systems, in an attempt to
maintain the Group’s sustainable development in the fierce business

competition environment.
PRODUCTION AND SALES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was a decrease of 2.2% in
the production volume and 6.5% in the sales volume of intermediates and
bulk medicines of the Group, as compared with 2022. There was an
increase of 131.1% in the production volume and an increase of 121.7% in
the sales volume of cephalosporin powder for injection, as compared with
last year. The decreases in the production and sales volume of
intermediates and bulk medicines were mainly due to the impact of
relocation of Dawnrays Nantong and the factory of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical on Tianling Road, while the increase in the sales volume of
powder for injection was due to the winning bid of “Xianshu” in the eighth
batch of national centralized procurement. There was a decrease of 11.2%
in the production volume and a decrease of 11.8% in the sales volume of
solid-dosage-forms as compared with the same period of last year. In
terms of international business, the Group’s sales in overseas markets
declined due to the impact of relocation of Dawnrays Nantong and the
factory of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical on Tianling Road. The sales
of overseas markets accounted for 1.5% of the total sales of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

NEW PRODUCTS AND PATENT LICENSING

In 2023, the Group applied to the Center for Drug Evaluation, CFDA for the
registration of a total of 14 varieties, including 11 supplementary
applications (consistency evaluation) applications and 3 supplementary
applications (additional specifications) applications. In 2023, the Company
obtained 17 drug approvals, including 6 approvals for marketing approval
of Class 4 chemical drugs, 2 approvals for APls, 7 approvals for
supplementary applications and 2 recordation documents.

In 2023, the Group obtained a total of 5 national patent certificates
(including 1 invention patent, 3 utility model patents and 1 appearance
design patent):

1) “A preparation method for a high-purity Cefmetazole Inner ester”,
patent number: ZL.202111626415.6

2) “Dry granulator”, patent number: Z1.202321427796.X

3) “An intelligent high-speed box packing machine”, patent number:
Z71.202321642638. 6

4) “A multifunctional high-speed bottle sorting machine”, patent
number: ZL202321540411. 0

5) “Inner-cap (medicine bottle)”, patent number: ZL20230101390. 1

HONORS AWARDED TO THE GROUP IN 2023

Time of Awards Honors

April 2023 Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded

the “High and New Technology Enterprise” certificate by
the Department of Science and Technology of Fujian
Province;
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded
the title of “Health Enterprise” by Healthy Licheng
Construction Leading Group of Licheng District in
Putian.

September 2023 Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded the “ISO Quality Management System
Certification” by the National Certification and
Accreditation Supervision Committee.

October 2023 Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded
the title of “Advanced Collective for the Development of
Key Industries in Putian” by the Putian Municipal

People’s Government.
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EEENWR DT

Time of Awards Honors

November 2023

December 2023

January 2024

February 2024

March 2024

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. obtained
the certificate of “High-tech Enterprise” issued by the
Jiangsu Provincial Department of Science and
Technology;

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. has passed
the review and certification of “Jiangsu multinational
company regional headquarters” and “Suzhou
headquarters enterprise”.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded the qualification of “Specialized, Fine, Unique
and Innovative Enterprise in Jiangsu Province” by the
Jiangsu Provincial Department of Industry and
Information Technology; and was awarded the honorary
title of “Contract-abiding and Credit-worthy Enterprise in
Jiangsu Province from 2021 to 2022”.

Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. won the 2023
“Special Award for Enterprises with Outstanding
Economic Contribution” issued by the CPC Committee
and the District Government of Licheng District.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded the “2023 Advanced Unit of Guangcai
Business” by Wuzhong District Federation of Industry
and Commerce.

Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded
the “2023 Qutstanding Economic Contribution Award”
by Putian Municipal Party Committee and Municipal
Government (tax payment of RMB50,000,000 to
RMB100,000,000).

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded the “Enterprise with Outstanding Contribution
to Tax Payment” in 2023 by Suzhou Wuzhong Economic
and Technological Development Zone.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded the “Excellent Enterprise” certificate for 2023
by Suzhou Wuzhong Economic and Technological
Development Zone.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB1,151,145,000, decreased by RMB126,537,000 or
9.9% compared with last year, of which the turnover of intermediates and
bulk medicines was RMB129,419,000, decreased by RMB11,022,000 or
7.8% compared with last year. The turnover of finished drugs was
RMB1,021,726,000, decreased by RMB115,515,000 or 10.2% compared
with last year. The decrease in the sales of intermediates and bulk
medicines was mainly affected by the suspension of production and
relocation of factory of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical located on
Tianling Road. The decrease in the sales of finished drugs was mainly due
to the impact of centralized procurement of “Anneixi” (Losartan Potassium
and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets) and “Anmeiping” (Levamlodipine Besylate
Tablets) of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical.

Sales amount of finished drugs, comprising system specific medicines,
powder for injection and tablets of cephalosporin and other oral solid-
dosage-form of antibiotics, reached approximately RMB1,021,726,000.
Taking into account of the total turnover, sales amount of finished drugs
was approximately 88.8%, decreased by 0.2 percentage points compared
with last year, of which the sales amount of system specific medicines
accounted for 90.8% of sales of finished drugs.

Gross profit was approximately RMB641,519,000, decreased by
RMB132,032,000 compared with last year, representing a decrease of
17.1%. Gross profit margin decreased by approximately 4.8 percentage
points to 55.7% from 60.5% as in last year. It was mainly due to the
decline in the sales of high gross profit product “Anneixi” and the
production costs increased with unattainable production capacity of

Lanzhou Dawnrays.
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TABLE OF TURNOVER ANALYSIS — BY PRODUCT

EXRBEONT — RERS

i)

PRODUCT TURNOVER SALES BREAKDOWN
Em BEHE HELH
Percentage
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) points
(ARET) (ARETFT) (AREFT) (%) (%) changes
2023 2022 changes 2023 2022 BOE
—E-=f ZZ-CfF Bl Z—B-=E <—T--fF 2l
Intermediates and Bulk Medicines Fp [ 82 & [ 4} 24 129,419 140,441 -11,022 11.2 11.0 0.2
Finished Drugs B B 1,021,726 1,137,241 -115,515 88.8 89.0 -0.2
Overall ] 1,151,145 1277682  -126,537 100.0 100.0 -
EXPENSES Z2H

During the year, the total expenses incurred were approximately
RMB372,300,000, representing an increase of RMB12,114,000 from
RMB360,186,000 in the previous year, and accounted for 32.3% of the
turnover (2022: 28.2%). As COVID-19 in China has been reclassified under
“Class-B infectious diseases”, the Group fully resumed all sales and
promotion activities and enhanced the development of the secondary and
tertiary end markets. The selling expenses increased by RMB4,316,000 as
compared with last year, and the selling expense ratio was 12.8%. The
administrative expenses decreased by RMB8,852,000 as compared with
last year, mainly due to the impact of land amortisation of Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical and the decrease in environmental protection
charges of Dawnrays Nantong. Finance expenses were RMB989,000,
representing an increase of RMB618,000 as compared with the previous
year. Research and development expenses increased by RMB11,330,000
as compared with the previous year. Other expenses increased by
RMB4,702,000 as compared with last year, mainly because of the effect of
exchange loss related to the loan provided to AD Pharmaceuticals and the

liquidation of Dawnrays Nantong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENT PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the segment profit from the
finished drugs segment was approximately RMB487,277,000, representing
a decrease of RMB121,529,000 compared with RMB608,806,000 in
2022, mainly due to decrease in the sales of finished drugs. The
intermediates and bulk medicines had segment loss of RMB32,692,000
while it was segment loss of RMB17,775,000 in 2022. The loss was mainly
attributable to the low output of Lanzhou Dawnrays resulting in high
production costs.

INTERESTS AND RIGHTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd. (“Dawnrays Biotechnology”), a
subsidiary of the Group invested a total of RMB185,000,000 for 35%
share interest in AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“AD Pharmaceuticals”).
During the year, Dawnrays Biotechnology paid a total of RMB66,500,000
to AD Pharmaceuticals in accordance with the shareholder loan agreement
signed with AD Pharmaceuticals in October 2022. Together with the loan
of RMB49,000,000 in 2021, the total amount was RMB115,500,000
(“Interest-bearing Shareholder Loan”). Since the Group shared an
investment loss of approximately RMB40,933,000 (2022:
RMB61,905,000), in proportion to the investment percentage in AD
Pharmaceuticals in 2023, the net book value of Investment in an associate
and the Loan to an associate as at 31 December 2023 were RMBO (2022:
RMB25,345,000) and RMB106,457,000 (2022: RMB51,825,000)
respectively. On 8 February 2024, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a
share transfer agreement with Akeso Biopharma Co. Ltd. (“Akeso
Biopharma”) to sell the 35% share interest of AD Pharmaceuticals to Akeso
Biopharma for approximately RMB267,387,000. Dawnrays Biotechnology
received the repayment of Interest-bearing Shareholder Loan of
RMB115,500,000 plus after-tax interest of approximately RMB6,039,000

on 12 March 2024 according to the share transfer agreement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, profit attributable to owners of the
parent amounted to approximately RMB326,000,000 representing a
decrease of RMB32,057,000 or 9.0% compared with RMB358,057,000 in
last year. During the year, there was a net gain of RMB118,858,000
contributed from disposal of assets resulting from the relocation of factory
of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical located at Tianling Road (2022: gain
from asset disposal of subsidiary RMB39,670,000), share of loss of
RMB40,933,000 for the investment in AD Pharmaceuticals (2022:
RMB61,905,000) and the exchange loss of RMB1,879,000 due to
liquidation of Dawnrays Nanong. Excluding the above factors, the actual
operating profit attributable to owners of the parent was RMB249,954,000
(2022: RMB380,292,000), decreased by 34.3% compared with last year.

ANALYSIS ON THE RETURN ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, net assets attributable to owners of the parent
were approximately RMB2,854,656,000. The return on net assets, which
is defined as the profit attributable to owners of the parent divided by net
assets attributable to owners of the parent was 11.4% (2022: 13.6%). The
current ratio and quick ratio was 2.57 and 2.26 respectively. Turnover days
for trade receivables were approximately 57 days. Turnover days for trade
receivables including bills receivables were approximately 113 days.

Turnover days for inventory were approximately 160 days.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss including:

(i) invested in certain Hong Kong public listed shares amounted
approximately RMB10,333,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB10,500,000);

(i) purchased certain wealth management products (all were structured
deposits) of approximately RMB150,000,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB170,000,000) of floating interest rate principal-preservation type
with annual interest rate from 1.0% to 3.49% from 4 good credit
worth banks in China. The expected yield would be approximately
RMB538,000 in total. The wealth management products were mainly
relatively lower risk of default. All principal and interests will be paid
together on the maturity date. The Board believes that the investment
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Management Discussion and Analysis

in aforementioned wealth management products can strengthen the
financial position of the Group and bring the fruitful contribution to
the profit of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the above mentioned financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
RMB160,871,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB181,357,000), representing approximately 4.4% (31 December
2022: 4.9%) of the total assets of the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group recorded net gain of approximately
RMB5,677,000 (2022: RMB7,204,000) on the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

(i)  considering business cooperation and financial investment, the
Group invested RMB20,000,000 to hold 1,895,735 shares of
Waterstone Pharmaceuticals (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. (stock code:
873938), accounting for 1.48% of share interest.

The Board believes that the investment in equity investment and financial
assets can diversify the investment portfolio of the Group and achieve a
better return to the Group in future.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
approximately RMB905,826,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB811,682,000). During the year, the net cash inflows from operating
activities was approximately RMB338,400,000 (2022: RMB434,266,000).
Net cash outflows from investing activities was approximately
RMB387,573,000 (2022: net cash outflows RMB175,013,000). Net cash
inflows from financing activities was approximately RMB2,070,000 (2022
net cash outflows: RMB92,701,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB1,270,000,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB1,370,000,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings was RMB120,060,000 (as at 31
December 2022: RMB6,434,000), and the debt ratio (defined as sum of
interest-bearing bank borrowings over total assets) of the Group was 3.3%
(as at 31 December 2022: 0.18%). The above mentioned bank and other
borrowings were short-term loans not more than 1 year and the interest
rate were fixed ranging from 1.1% to 3.9%.
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EEBENmEDON

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB152,385,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB208,828,000), decreased by 27.0% compared to 2022, mainly due to
the impact of decrease in sales of bulk medicines and short payment cycle
for centralized procurement.

As at 31 December 2023, the inventory balance of the Group was
approximately RMB211,107,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB241,746,000), representing a decrease of RMB30,639,000 as
compared with 2022, mainly due to the decrease in the stocking of bulk
medicines and intermediates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s contracted but not provided for
plant and machinery capital commitments amounted to approximately
RMB62,588,000 (as at 31 December 2022: RMB110,318,000), which was
mainly related to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical relocation construction
project and Lanzhou Dawnrays intermediates and bulk medicines
production base project.

SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT

Nanjing PharmaRays, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Group and a
research and development company, owned as to 65% by Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical, had the registered capital of RMB50,000,000,
and Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical made a capital contribution of
RMB32,500,000, in accordance with the joint venture agreement. As at 31
December 2023, the registered capital subscribed by the other shareholder
amounted to RMB17,500,000, of which RMB17,000,000 was paid.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the reporting period, the factory of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical located at Wuzhong Economic and Technological
Development Zone was relocated from Tianling Road to Shanfeng Road of
Wusongjiang Chemical Industrial Park in Wuzhong Economic and
Technological Development Zone due to the urban planning adjustment of
Wuzhong Economic and Technological Development Zone by the Suzhou
Municipal People’s Government. Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical and
the local government signed a relocation compensation agreement on 20
December 2017. The agreed relocation compensation amounted to
approximately RMB351,200,000. As at 31 December 2023, Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical received the relocation compensation of
RMB175,595,000 and has completed its move out of Tianling Road
factory of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical. The planned investment in
new factory located at Shanfeng Road was RMB519,799,000. The
construction of the solvent recovery workshop was completed and put into
operation. Bulk material workshops obtained natification of passing GMP
compliance inspection on 13 March 2024. Other production workshops
had been completed and were undergoing pre-production verification.
During the year, Dawnrays International made a capital contribution of
US$20,000,000 to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical.

Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Group, was deregistered in January 2024.

The registered capital of Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. the
intermediates and bulk medicines production base of the Group, was
RMB540,344,000. During the year, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
invested the registered capital of RMB105,000,000. As at 31 December
2023, the accumulated registered capital invested was RMB425,750,365.
Lanzhou Dawnrays, with 250 mu land area, its main products are
cephalosporin bulk medicines and intermediates, system specific bulk
medicines, raw materials of enzyme inhibitors, and raw materials of health
supplements. The planned investment in the project was
RMB482,050,000. The construction of phase 1 of the project was
completed and put into operation.

During the year, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Top Field
Limited and its subsidiary Fujian Dawnrays (“Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill”)
amounted to RMB241,158,000. The Group is required to check, at each
reporting period end, whether the recoverable amount based on the value
in use of the cash-generating unit of Fujian Dawnrays exceeds the carrying
value at 31 December 2023. After an assessment, the Group believes that
there were no indications of impairment on Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill as at
31 December 2023.
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EEBENmEDON

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant external investments,
material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
by the Group during the year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND TREASURY POLICIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an exchange
loss of RMB5,526,000 (2022: gain of RMB4,537,000). The Group’s
substantial business activities, assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, so the risk derived from the foreign exchange to the Group is
not high. The treasury policy of the Group is to manage any risk of foreign
exchange or interest rate (if any) only if it will potentially impose a significant
impact on the Group. The Group continues to observe the foreign
exchange and interest rate market, and may hedge against foreign
currency risk with foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate risk
with interest rate swap contracts if necessary.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 1,143
(2022: 1,106) employees and the total remuneration was approximately
RMB211,780,000 (2022: RMB183,630,000). The total remuneration
increased mainly due to staff increase and salary adjustment. The Group
regards human resources as the most valuable assets and truly
understands the importance of attracting and retaining high-performance
employees. The remuneration policy is generally based on the references
of market salary index and individual qualifications. The Group provides its
employees with other fringe benefits, including defined contribution
retirement schemes, share option scheme and medical coverage. The
Group also offers some of its employees stationed in the PRC with
dormitory accommodation.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not pledged any assets to banks
to secure credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries (as at 31 December
2022: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 February 2024, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a share transfer
agreement with Akeso Biopharma, Akeso Inc. and AD Pharmaceuticals,
pursuant to which Dawnrays Biotechnology sell Akeso Biopharma 35%
equity interest in AD Pharmaceuticals at the purchase price of
approximately RMB267,387,000 and recover the loan and interest lent to
AD Pharmaceutical. Further details of which were set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 9 February 2024.

PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND EXPECTED
SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save for those disclosed above in connection with capital commitments,
increase of registered capital in subsidiaries and capital for relocation plans
under the section “Liquidity and Financial Resources” and “Substantial
Investment”, the Group does not have any plan for material investments or
acquisition of capital assets.

The Group has sufficient financial and internal resources to pay the capital
commitments, capital expenditure for relocation plans, investment projects
and increased registered share capital described above. However, it is still
possible to pay the above capital expenditure commitments with bank
loans or internal resources of the Group.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operating segment information for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out in note 3 to the financial statement.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) believes that corporate governance is
essential to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”). Good corporate governance can safeguard the
interests of all shareholders and enhance corporate value. Therefore, the
Board has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of
corporate governance is maintained.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Ltd. (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in
securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code, throughout the
accounting period covered by the 2023 annual report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board comprised the
following Directors:
Executive Directors: Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Hung Yung Lai
Non-executive Director: Mr. Leung Hong Man
Independent Non-executive Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan

Directors:

Save as Ms. Li Kei Ling, the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Hung Yung
Lai, one of the Executive Directors, are directors and ultimate shareholders
of several private companies incorporated in Hong Kong and British Virgin
Islands, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The balanced Board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across the

Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good

corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has established

mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from any director of

the Company are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and

effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed

annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1)

Three out of the six directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors, which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules that at
least one-third of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors. The three Independent Non-executive Directors are
persons of high caliber, with academic and professional qualifications
in the fields of accounting and business management respectively.
With their experience gained from senior positions held in other
organizations, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are members of three board
committees and scrutinize the overall performance of the Group in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the
reporting of performance. The Independent Non-executive Directors
take an active role in board meetings, contribute to the development
of strategies and policies and make sound and independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standard of conduct. They will take
lead where potential conflicts of interests arise.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board had
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by holding a
board meeting with the presence of disinterested Independent Non-
executive Directors or a meeting of a board committee set up for that

purpose pursuant to a resolution passed in a board meeting.

A Director (including Independent Non-executive Director) who has
material interest in any contract, transaction or arrangement shall
abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.
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(5) The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from the three Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee has
assessed their independence and concluded that all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the
Listing Rules.

(6) Meeting between the Chairman and all Independent Non-executive
Directors without presence of other Directors was held annually, by
which the independent views and opinions can be shared and
discussed on various matters.

(7)  All Directors are entitled to have unrestricted access to the advice
and service of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that
board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Upon reasonable request and appropriate circumstances,
Directors can seek independent professional advice to assist them to
discharge their duties, at the Company’s expenses.

(8) No equity-based remuneration with performance related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management has been delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

No corporate governance committee has been established and so the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct to employees and Directors such as inside information
disclosure regulations, assuring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. and to review the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and the
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The biographies of the Directors are set out in pages 47 to 50 to the 2023
annual report, which demonstrates the skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications of the Directors. With Independent Non-executive Directors’
experience gained from senior positions held in other organisations, they
provide strong support towards the effective discharges of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. All Directors take an active role in board
meetings, contribute to the development of strategies and policies and
make sound and independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointment and standard of
conduct.

The Board held 12 board meetings including 6 regular meetings and 6 ad-
hoc meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023. The regular
board meetings were to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the interim and annual results of the Group, overall group
strategy, annual budgets, approval of major capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial matters. The ad-hoc meetings were
convened when circumstance required such as amend committee’s terms
of reference, opening bank accounts, recommendation the shareholders
to approve the adoption of the new share option scheme and termination
of the existing share option scheme etc.
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Details of the attendance of Directors at board meetings, annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and other three board committees’
meetings (the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) during the year 2023 are set out in the following
table:

RIZ-=F ZEEFREFETH  FARAIBRE
FRrE(BRRBFAG) KA =ZAEEZEES
#(BEZLZES RAZBERFMEZBS)NLRE
ABETIEN TR

No. of meetings attended/held
BRLERY BT

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board AGM Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEEpS EZg RRBFEARE ERZE® REAZEE® FHZE®
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Li Kei Ling (Chairman) THR T (FE) 12/12 11 - 3/3 2/2
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RRRMB LA 12/12 11 - - -
Non-executive Director IHiTEE
Mr. Leung Hong Man REREE 10/12 11 - - -
Independent Non-executive BUINTEE

Directors

Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony BRELE 10/12 11 5/5 3/3 2/2
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t & 9/12 11 5/5 2/3 2/2
Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MAREL L 10/12 11 5/5 3/3 2/2
At least 14 days’ notice of regular board meeting is given to all Directors. EEeTHEE & 3%

The agenda and board papers are sent to the Directors at least 3 days
before the meetings of the Board and board committees so that the
Directors have the time to review the documents. Directors can include
matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises. Minutes of
meetings of the Board and board committees are recorded in sufficient
details that matters considered and decisions reached. The draft and final
versions of the minutes will be sent to Directors within a reasonable time
after the meetings. Minutes of meetings of the Board and board
committees are kept by the company secretary of the Company and open
for inspection on reasonable notice by any Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT BEEHEEIIRERE
Directors understand the importance of continuous professional EETHFEEX YRV EZHTBEEEREN
development and are willing to develop and refresh their knowledge and HABAERE  UBEREEETAGEE2EENRY
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board remains AR ZEATMESSELER -

informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the CG Code C.1.4 on EFEAGEETERTAECILKERES S

Directors’ training. All Directors had participated in continuous professional HE_T-_=F+-A=+—HBLFE" ’i%ﬁi%
development and provided a record of training they received for the year HESHEBETERRE  WEMAQRIREENE
ended 31 December 2023 to the Company. X2 8BE0 8k o

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended REE_T-_=F+-_A=+T—HLEFE JEF
31 December 2023 is set out below: %X B A GEEF ST

Briefings and updates on Attending or participating

the listing rules, business, in seminars/conferences

operations, and corporate relevant to the

governance matters management or business

BERALTRE - ¥EH - EER HERSMEEEY

Directors 2= TEEREEZERREN ERERZEE g8
Ms. Li Kei Ling THL LA+ v v
Mr. Hung Yung Lai ARELIB S A 4 4
Mr. Leung Hong Man PEREE v v/
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony BRI EE v v/
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %4 v 4
Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MEAELZ T v/ v
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APPOINTMENTS AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee will consider the appointment of new Directors
first by reviewing the profiles of the candidates and making
recommendations to the Board. New Directors appointed by the Board
during the year to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first general meeting
immediately followed their appointment.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of two years and
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of

association (the “Articles”).

According to the Company’s Articles, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meeting. All retiring

Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his first appointment to have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the
business and governance policies of the Company. The Directors
endeavour to give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs and
are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The day-to-day management of the Group is delegated to the
management by the Board, with division heads responsible for individual

department’s daily operations.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing, execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and

regulations.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The management has the obligation to supply the Board with monthly
updates and adequate information to enable it to make informed decisions
on matters placed before it. Where any Director requires more information
than is volunteered by the management, each Director has separate and
independent access to the Group’s management to make further enquires
if necessary. Where queries are raised by Directors, management will

respond as promptly and fully as possible.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision of the CG Code C.2.1, the roles of the chairman (the
“Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
has appointed Ms. Li Kei Ling as the Chairman. She has executive
responsibilities and provides leadership to the Board such as ensuring all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and
received complete and reliable information in a timely manner so that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities. Mr. Wu Weixian
was appointed by the Board as the CEO of the Company and has been
delegated with the authority and responsibility for managing the Group’s
business operation and implementing the development strategies. CEO will
periodically present the updated market situation, long term strategies and
objectives of the Group, quarterly results to the Board at the Board
meeting. Variances analysis between the actual performances and the
budget targets are explained in the meeting. This helps the Board to
monitor the Group’s business operations and to amend the targets when
required. In addition, CEO will also present the coming year budget
summary to the Board for approval at the Board meeting held in December

each year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The management provides explanation and information to the Board so as
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and

other information put before the approval by the Board.

The Directors and CEO acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and annual
financial statements and announcements to shareholders. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board
therefore continues to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the

accounts.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to the regulators as well as the information required to be
disclosed pursuant to the statutory requirements.

The responsibilities of the auditors to the shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 69 to 75.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management (including ESG risks) and internal controls,

and the resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.
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The CEO and senior management of the Group is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management (including
ESG risks) and internal control systems. Appropriate policies and controls
have been set and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded
against improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may impact on the
Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. However,
the systems and internal controls can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition and to manage
operational risks. Of which including:

(1)  establishing written policies and work flow for major operations and
production cycles to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and industry standards;

(2) clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
business and operational unit, having in place appropriate
segregation of duties and setting proper authorization levels to
ensure adequate checks and balances; and

(8) rules and guidelines are set to control treasury activities, financial and
management reporting, human resources functions and computer
systems’ operations.

The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

(i) identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and
evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;

(i)  develop necessary measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such
risks; and

(i) monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.
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The Group has embedded its risk management systems into the core
operating practices of the business. On an ongoing basis, business and
operational units assess and identify their potential risks which may impact
on their ability to achieve their business objectives and/or those of the
Group. The head of each unit has to complete relevant risk and control
self-assessment questionnaires and confirm to the CEO that appropriate
internal control policies and procedures have been established and
properly complied with. CEO conducts review of the effectiveness of risk
management annually and presents report to the Audit Committee after

review.

In addition, the Board monitors and reviews the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control systems through a programme of
internal audit. The internal audit department is set up by the Company to
review the major operational and financial control of the Group in
compliance with the established processes and standards on a continuing
basis and aims to cover all major operations of the Group on a rotational
basis. The internal audit department reports directly to the Chairman of the
Board and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee examines the
internal audit department’s review and opinions about operational
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and reports to the
Board.

During 2023, based on the internal audit report and the risk management
report presented by internal audit department and CEO respectively, the
Audit Committee and the Board were not aware of any areas of concern
that would have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or
results of operations and considered the risk management (including ESG
risks) and internal control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions and those relating to ESG performance and reporting.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy to ensure that inside information is
disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Access to inside information is at all
times confined to relevant senior management executed on “as needed”
basis, until proper disclosure or dissemination of inside information is made
in accordance with applicable laws and regulation. Relevant personnel and
other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve confidentiality
of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee. The committees’ terms of references
defined their functions and responsibilities have been posted on the
Company’s website.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2023, the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had Ms. Li Kei Ling as the committee’s
chairman, and the three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as
the committee’s members. The Nomination Committee’s terms of

reference are summarized as follows:

(1)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skill,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(2)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the

selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(8) to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;
and

(4)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

During the year 2023, the Nomination Committee had three meetings to
review the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
qualification of candidate for re-election in the AGM and the renewal of

Directors’ letter of appointment.
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CRERRE
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity across
the organization, and endorse the view that a diverse Board is a key
elements of an effective Board. The Nomination Committee adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to ethnicity, working experience, professional skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company believes that increasing
diversity at the Board level is an important part of achieving its strategic
objectives and to attract and retain the best people. Appointments to the
Board shall be on merit, in the context of the skills and experience the
Board as a whole requires to be effective, and against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity.

There are many considerations that factor into the Nomination
Committee’s nomination process including legal requirements, best
practices, and skills required to complement the Board’s skill set and the
number of Directors needed to discharge the duties of the Board and its
Committees. But it will not set any restrictions like gender, age, cultural or
educational background when short listing candidates. The Company
believes that a truly diverse Board will include and make good use of
differences in the skills, regional and industry experience, background and
other qualities of Directors. Measurable objectives include (i) at least one
Director is female; (i) at least one third of the Board members (but
minimum 3 directors) are Independent Non-executive Directors; and (jii) the
Board possesses a balance skills appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall review the
diversity of the Board at least annually taking into account the Group’s
business model and specific needs and shall monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and, if appropriate, make recommendations
on proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

DIVERSITY IN BOARD AND WORKFORCE

BOARD LEVEL

The Company have a diverse Board in terms of age, gender, academic
background, professional experience and industry expertise. The Board of
the Company currently comprises two female Directors and four male
Directors which has achieved gender diversity at the Board level and
targets to maintain the current level of female representation. The
Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into account when
recruiting staff members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and career
development to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board
and maintain gender diversity.
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As at 31 December 2023, the composition of the Board of the Company
was as follows:
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WORKFORCE LEVEL

The development of the Group is closely related to the competence, skills
and team spirits of our employees. The Group appreciate their continuous
hard work that created the success of the Group today. As an equal
opportunity employer, the Group encourages gender diversity. The
Group’s recruitment strategy is to employ a right staff for a right position
regardless of the gender. The Group ensure that all employees are treated
fairly, and will not suffer any form of discrimination in respect of
remuneration, promotion and benefits. The Group also established talent
management and training programs to provide career development
guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse
pool of skilled and experienced employees.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any mitigating
factors or circumstance which make achieving gender diversity across the
workforce (including senior management) more challenging and less
relevant. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 1,143 employees
(including senior management) in total comprising of 644 male and 499
female (i.e. a male to female ratio of approximately 56:44).
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee recommends candidates for nomination to the
Board, which approves the final choice of candidates. The Nomination
Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and review the same from time to time.
The objective of the Nomination Policy is to assist the Company in fuffilling
its duties and responsibilities as provided in its terms of reference. This
Nomination Policy sets out, inter alia, the selection criteria and the
evaluation procedures in nominating candidates to be appointed or
reappointed as Directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee
shall consider any and all candidates recommended as nominees for
Directors to the Committee by any Directors or Shareholders of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The Nomination Committee may
also undertake its own search process for candidates and may retain the
services of professional search firms or other third parties to assist in
identifying and evaluating potential nominees. The Nomination Committee
shall endeavour to find individuals of high integrity who possess the
qualifications, qualities, skills, experience and independence (in case of
Independent Non-executive Directors) to effectively represent the best
interests of all Shareholders. Candidates will be selected for their ability to
exercise good judgement, and to provide practical insights and diverse
perspectives. The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates including personal
interviews, background checks, written submission by the candidates and
third party references. As far as practicable, nominees for each election or
appointment of Directors shall be evaluated using a substantially similar
process. The Nomination Committee believes that independence is an
important part of fulfilling the Directors’ duty to supervise the management
of the business and affairs of the Company. Non-executive Directors and
Executive Directors are required to disclose his/her competing businesses
to the Company. Cross-directorships in Hong Kong or overseas between
Directors are also reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee is
accountable for assessing whether any competing businesses or
interlocking directorships could materially interfere with the exercise of
objective and unfettered judgement by relevant Directors or their ability to
act in the best interests of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
As at 31 December 2023, the remuneration committee of the Company

(the “Remuneration Committee”) had Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, an

Independent Non-executive Director, as the committee’s chairman, Ms. Li

Kei Ling, and two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo Tung Sing

Tony and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as the committee’s members. The

Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are summarized as follows:

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

to recommend to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure of
all Directors and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

to determine with delegated responsibility from the Board, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management;

to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

to ensure that no Director or any of her/his associates is involved in
deciding her/his own remuneration; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Group’s remuneration policy bases on the market practice, the

qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. In

order to attract, retain, and motivate high-performance persons, the

Company has adopted share option scheme to reward those participants

who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
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The Board considers that the Executive Directors of the Company, CEO
and the chief financial officer are the key management personnel of the
Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate emoluments
payable to Directors, CEO and the chief financial officer were within the
following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$7,000,000

Details of the amount of Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 8 to financial statements and the details of
the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee had two meetings in 2023 to determine the
bonus of director and senior management, review and recommendation to
the Board on the adoption of new share option scheme of the Company in
2023 AGM.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the accounting

profession, commercial, medical and pharmaceutical sectors.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee’s chairman was Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, while Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan were the committee’s members. The Audit Committee’s terms of

reference are summarized as follows:

(i) to consider and recommend to the Board the independence,
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors;

(i)  to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and to deal with any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

(i) to review financial information; and

(iv)  to oversee financial reporting system, risks management (including
ESG risks) and internal control systems.

During the year 2023, the Audit Committee had five meetings, two of
which were held with external auditors without presence of Executive
Directors. The work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended
31 December 2023 is summarized below:

(1) reviewed the external auditors’ independence, the terms of
engagement and approved the remuneration of the external auditors;

(2)  reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditors and discussed
with them about the nature and scope of the audit;

(8) reviewed the Group’s interim financial information and annual
financial statements, before submission to the Board, discussed the
financial reporting matters and any areas of concerns during the
audits, including but not limited to the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices, and on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements;
and

(4)  reviewed internal audit report and annual audit plan of the internal
audit department and the effectiveness of internal audit function, risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems.

The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
recommending them to the Board for approval.
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CRERRE
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young has been reappointed as the Company’s external auditors
at the AGM on 25 May 2023 until the conclusion of the next AGM. During
the year 2023, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
external auditors in respect of services provided was as follow:

Fees for statutory audit services amounted to RMB2,260,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Pang Kit Ling, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time
employee of the Group. During the year, the company secretary of the
Company confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training.
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the shareholder(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the shareholder(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Act or the Articles
of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting

following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards, proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to
the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association during the year ended 31 December 2023.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with its shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The objective of the
Company’s shareholder’s communication policy is to disclose relevant
corporate information to shareholders in a timely manner. The Company
establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders. In addition to the publication of annual report and interim
reports to shareholders, the company’s website which contains corporate
information, corporate governance practice, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables all
shareholders and potential investors to have timely and updated
information of the Company. Shareholders may raise questions or make a
request for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available by email or by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board attends the
AGM and arranges the chairman of the committees or in the absence of
the chairman of such committees, another member of the committees to
be available to answer questions at the AGM. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered, including the election
of Directors, and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll.
Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting of the Company
was held on 25 May 2023 at which all Directors, the CEO, the chief
financial officer of the Company and the auditor attended either by person
or by means of electronic facilities to communicate with the shareholders
of the Company. In addition, all corporate communications and regulatory
announcements were published by the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. Taking into account the
variety of existing channels for communications, the shareholder’s
communication policy is considered to have been effectively implemented.
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CRERRE
DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide its shareholders with a target annual
dividend payout ratio between 25% to 50% of the profit after tax
attributable to owners of the parent in any financial year subject to the
following factors:

1. the Company’s actual and expected cash flow positions and financial

performance;

2. projected capital expenditure, future expansion plans and growth
opportunities;

3. the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants;

4.  general economic conditions and business cycle of the Group’s core
business;

5. general expectation of shareholders and investors of the Company;
and

6.  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board will declare dividends semi-annually. The payment of final
dividend is subject to the approval of Shareholders and scrip dividend
distribution option also may be provided for the election of the
Shareholders in relation to the payment of final dividend in any financial
year. This dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends
under this policy are subject to the Board’s continuing determination that
this dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders, and are in

compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI, Kei Ling, aged 75, is an Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company. Ms. Li is one of the founders of the Group. She founded the
Group in December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October
2002. She was also the chief executive officer of the Company from 1
March 2015 to 17 April 2016. Ms. Li is also the Chairman of Dawnrays
International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited (5 ¥ B
f% 3 & BR A &l), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Fujian
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology
Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd. and Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong)
Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. She is the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Ms. Li has over thirty years of experience in corporate management,
strategic planning, business operations and finance, in particular for
pharmaceutical enterprises in the PRC. She is responsible for supervising
the strategic management decisions to ensure good corporate governance
practices and business policies are established, and executing the overall

developmental strategies of the Group.

Mr. HUNG, Yung Lai, aged 79, is an Executive Director of the Company
and one of the founders of the Group. Mr. Hung founded the Group in
December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October 2002. Mr.
Hung also holds directorship in Dawnrays International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays
Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited
(BR 3% B B2 P& 9 A BR 2 F), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science
and Technology Co., Ltd., Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd. and Dawnrays
Pharma (Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Hung holds a degree from £ /& & % £ [z (Shanghai Conservatory of
Music). He has over thirty years of experience in corporate management
and corporate development, and has participated in founding and
managing of pharmaceutical and high-tech enterprises. Mr. Hung was an
executive director and the chairman of Sing Lee Software (Group) Ltd., a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
during May 2001 to October 2022.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EERSREEEBE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG, Hong Man, aged 49, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group and was appointed to the Board in
November 2005. Mr. Leung has started his business career in knitting
machinery since 1993. He has over ten years experience in sales and
management and also over ten years experience in finance and property
investments. In recent years, Mr. Leung has strived to exploit business in
hi-tech agriculture and arts and cultural industries. Mr. Leung currently is
the shareholder and the director of Toyo International Investment Ltd.,
which has been one of the substantial shareholders (as required to be
disclosed under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) of the
Company since September 2005.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LO, Tung Sing Tony, aged 55, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in October 2010. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company respectively.
Mr. Lo has extensive experience in financial management and business
development in Hong Kong and multinational companies. He obtained his
Bachelor degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong and Master of Science in Financial Management from The
University of London. Mr. Lo is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He currently holds the position of

Director of Finance at The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, aged 65, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. EDE joined the Group in June 2015 and was
appointed as a Non-executive Director. He was re-designated as an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 July 2017. Mr. EDE has
extensive experience in financial and business management in multinational
companies. He obtained his Bachelor degree in Business Administration
from The University of Hawaii and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The University of Washington. He is also a fellow member of
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. Mr. EDE was as an
independent non-executive director of Mindray Medical International Ltd. (a
company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from January 2017 to 18
May 2023. Mr. EDE currently holds the position of executive director of
Innovent Biologics Inc. (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Ms. LAM, Ming Yee Joan, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Lam joined the Group in May 2018. She is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company respectively. Ms. Lam earned her
bachelor degree in accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is
a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Ms. Lam has extensive
experience in the finance and accounting field, gained from major

international financial institutions and listed company in Hong Kong.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. WU, Weixian, aged 55, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Wu has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
from 16 February 2022 to take charge of daily business operations and
management of the Group. Mr. Wu joined the Group in April 2019. He was
the director and general manager of Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology Co.,
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Wu holds directorship in Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd.. Mr. Wu obtained his Bachelor degree
of Medicine from Guangzhou Medical College (renamed as Guangzhou
Medicine University in 2013) and Diploma in Management from China
Europe International Business School. Mr. Wu worked in a number of
multinational corporations or sino-foreign joint ventures. From March 1997
to August 2009, he successively served as the sales manager of Beijing
Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Site first and the marketing
manager of Beijing Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. Beijing Headquarter. In
2007, he had been delegated to work in Novartis Pharmaceuticals
Corporation’s United States Oncology Drug Division in New Jersey for one
year. Mr. Wu has over twenty-eight years of experience in pharmaceutical
industry and specializes in planning and management of sales, marketing
and business development of pharmaceutical products.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EERSREEEBE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU, Yijun, aged 60, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr.
Wau is responsible for the Group’s financial management including financial
planning, capital budgeting, execution of costing, budget planning and
monitoring. Mr. Wu holds directorship in Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. which are all subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wu
obtained a Bachelor degree of Accountancy from Nanjing Audit Institute
(renamed as Nanjing Audit University in 2015). He attained senior
accountant and economist qualification in the PRC. Mr. Wu has over thirty
years’ experience in internal control, budgeting, financial management,
investment and financing, economic management and PRC’s taxation
regulations. Mr. Wu joined the Group in December 2002.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) herein present their report and the
audited financial statements of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
audited financial statements on pages 76 to 201.

An interim dividend of HK$0.015 per ordinary share was paid on 5 October
2023. The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.065 per ordinary share in respect of the year, to shareholders on the
register of members on 12 June 2024. This recommendation has been
incorporated in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
presented in “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 5 to 8 and pages 10 to 16 respectively. The “Financial
Review” on pages 17 to 25 also includes an analysis of the Group’s
financial key performance indicators during the year. Future developments
in the Group’s business are disclosed in “Chairman’s Statement” on page
9 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 14.

The applicable discussion and analysis as cross-referenced above shall
form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 February 2024, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into the Agreement
with Akeso Biopharma, Akeso Inc. and AD Pharmaceuticals, pursuant to
which Dawnrays Biotechnology agreed to sell and Akeso Biopharma
agreed to purchase Dawnrays Biotechnology’s 35% equity interest in AD
Pharmaceuticals at the purchase price of approximately RMB267,387,000.
Further details of which were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 9 February 2024.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details about the Group’s financial risk management objectives and
policies are disclosed in note 36 to financial statements. The following risks
and uncertainties may affect the results and business operations of the
Group, some of which are inherent to pharmaceutical sector and some are
from external sources.

(1) DRUG APPROVAL PROCESS IN RELATION TO PRODUCTS

UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The actual timing of the market launch of products under
development could vary significantly from our estimates due to a
number of factors including delays or failures in our pre-clinical
studies or clinical trials, the lengthy approval process and the
uncertainties in the outcome of regulatory approval process. If any of
the necessary approvals in relation to products under development
is delayed or not obtained, this could adversely affect the timing of
the market launch of the products. The Group is committed to
investing in research and development of new drugs in order to
ensure a rich product pipeline.

(20 TENDER AND PRICE CONTROL
The Group has to participate in a government-led tender process
every year or every few years. In the event that the Group fails to win
the tender in a tender process, the sale of the Group’s products to
public hospitals in such provinces will be prohibited and the Group
will lose market share of that part. In addition, certain new methods
have been recently adopted in the tender process for centralized
procurement of drugs, which may exert further downward pressure
against the price of pharmaceutical products and the Group’s market
share, revenue and profitability may be adversely affected. The
Group has a team of staff monitoring and handling the drug tenders
with the objective of winning the tenders for the Group’s products at

a desirable price level.
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3

4

HEALTHCARE REFORM IN CHINA

The healthcare system in the PRC is undergoing a crucial reform
period, where laws, regulations and policies in effect governing the
medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical industry are constantly
evolving. New policies implementation may have material effects to
the Group. It may also incur significant costs, divert the resources
and attention of the management and thus leading to more
uncertainties and risks in respect of the Group’s business and
operation.

PRC ENVIRONMENTAL AND SAFETY REGULATIONS

The PRC government amends relevant laws, rules and regulations
from time to time in order to impose a more stringent standard for
environmental and safety protection. The Group is subject to such
laws, rules and regulations including but not limited to those in
relation to the discharge of gaseous waste, liquid waste and solid
waste, noise pollution and the safety of the workers during the
manufacturing process. Any violation of these laws, rules or
regulations may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions,
revocation of operating permits, shutdown of the production facilities
and obligations to take corrective measures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is well aware of the importance of environmental protection on

the Group’s sustainability and stable development. The Group strives to

improve product quality while achieving the best balance between cost

control and environmental protection, devotes to be a resource-saving and

environment-friendly enterprise with low energy and resources

consumption and low level of discharge on wastages. The Group has

established an environmental management system to promote clean

production, to reduce pollution and to reduce the risk of environmental

accidents. The Group also evaluates environmental and social risks of its

suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the safety of its supply chains.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules is available
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management are aware, for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group has complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(1) EMPLOYEES
Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable
remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. The staff and remuneration policy are
presented in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 24.

(20 SUPPLIERS
The Group has established a supplier management system to
handpick suppliers through a screening and evaluation process
based on quality and price. Furthermore, the Group also carries out
field audit on its suppliers when necessary, with a view to make
endeavor to ensure its suppliers are equipped to provide guarantees
on quality, as well as safety and other environmental issues that
require managerial skills. Such audit cover a number of areas,
including productivity, technical standards, quality assurance, supply
capability, as well as safety and environmental management

credentials.

54 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED SEs84%5 (1258 ) HRR A 7

BRI HEREBRE

RIEETRAMEC2HRBENARBRE HERE
RREEBREMA X ZMBR AR RAR AR
H2H -

BrREEERRS

HREFNEBEMYM BE_Z_=F+_-_A=+—
BIESE  AEECETHAEEEBREERE
AP BZRAERRBAD -

ETEER
1) EE

AEBNUARE GTREARERSSE  ARA
BEAT TE T EFHMERN - 53 BXREE
HR2EHE  WERRSEH - AEENE
B R HMBR SN EIRE R i oW |F24 8 -

(2 HER
AEBEZ THEBEEGNE BRBEE B
1% 5T {4 B P A58 % AT A A DR (BT o koD
BERINERHUEBEEERE L2 REM
REEBSEHENEN  AEERTEIHE
BIRGAE  WHEAERSD  RikE -G8
RERESN - HERED ZE2RBEEEEEEF

EETEHES -



(3) DISTRIBUTORS

The Group sells some of products to customers through third-party
distributors. The Group works closely with distributors to ensure that
the Group shares the view for upholding brand value and customer
services, specifically focusing on attracting and retaining customers
in order to drive sales growth. The Group also requires distributors to
comply with the Group’s policies and promotional activities
standards. The Group also monitors the financial condition and
repayment history of distributors.

(4) CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
constantly endeavours to deliver quality products and services to its
customers. The Group also directs dedicated efforts to deal with
complaints about relevant products and has established relevant
processes to handle complaints. In addition the Group has assigned
staff to investigate customers’ complaint cases and provide timely
feedbacks in order to safeguard customers’ benefits.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 46 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy bases on the market practice, the
qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. Other
fringe benefits, including defined contribution retirement schemes, share
option scheme and medical cover are also provided.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
during the year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 202. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE
DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB273,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LAND LEASE

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and land lease of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 and

15 to financial statements, respectively.
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had RMB120,060,000 interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are

set out in note 31 to financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company, nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s

listed securities.
RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group

during the year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 33 to financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023 the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to RMB253,468,000, of which RMB89,670,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year. Under the Companies Act, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
RMB4,236,000 as at 31 December 2023 is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium account may also be distributed in the form

of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 13.47% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 3.67%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 29.47% of the total purchases
for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 7.84%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest

in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Li Kei Ling
Mr. Hung Yung Lai

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Leung Hong Man

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan
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In accordance with the article 84 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan will
retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (‘AGM”).

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

The Board considers the executive directors of the Company, CEO and
the chief financial officer are the key management personnel of the Group.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company, CEO and the chief
financial controller are set out on pages 47 to 50 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Li Kei Ling entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Ms. Li's service contract
was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1 July 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. Her
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Ms. Li is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$1,162,800 per year.

Mr. Hung Yung Lai entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Mr. Hung’s service
contract was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1
July 2005 and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. His
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Mr. Hung is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$742,800 per year.

Mr. Leung Hong Man entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 November 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. Leung is
currently entitled to a basic annual remuneration of HK$300,000. Mr.
Leung’s appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not
less than one month’s written notice. Save for the above director’s fee, Mr.
Leung is not entitled to any other remuneration.
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Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 October 2010
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. EDE,
Ronald Hao Xi entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of two years commenced on 15 June 2015. As Mr. EDE was re-
designated as Independent Non-executive Director, he entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two years
commenced on 1 July 2017 and continued thereafter for successive terms
of two years. Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of two years which commenced on 25 May
2018 and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Each of
Mr. Lo’s, Mr. EDE’s and Ms. Lam’s appointment is respectively subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice.
Each of Mr. Lo, Mr. EDE and Ms. Lam is currently entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$360,000. Save for the above directors’ fees, the three
Independent Non-executive Directors are not entitled to any other
remuneration.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group. There was no
contract of significance between the Group, its controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or were in existence during the year.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

According to the Company’s competition and conflict of interest policy, a
board member’s serving as a director and/or officer of an entity that
competes with the Group’s business is involving a conflict of interest. A
director involves in such kind of conflict of interest shall not be present in
the meeting and participate in or be permitted to hear the Board’s
discussion of related matters. A director who has a conflict of interest with
respect to a contract or transaction that will be voted on at a meeting shall
not be counted in determining the presence of a quorum for purposes of
the vote.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi (Mr. EDE), an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been serving as executive director of a listed
company in Hong Kong. Part of that listed company’s business is
competing with the business of the Group’s associate and so Mr. EDE is
involving a conflict of interest under the Group’s competition and conflict of
interest policy. To avoid such a possible conflict, during the year under
review, upon agreement with Mr. EDE, he was not present or abstain from
voting in meetings when the Board discussed, decided and voted on the
matters and business with respect to the Group’s associate.

Except abovementioned, in the opinion of the Directors, none of the
Directors, the substantial shareholders of the Company and any of their
respective close associates has engaged in any businesses that competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year under
review which are required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution and/
or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise of his powers and/or
otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or offices,

to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has acquired insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities which provides certain indemnities against liabilities incurred in
respect of any legal actions which may be taken against Directors and
officers in the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option which was approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting on 24 May 2013 and was
effective on 21 June 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants
(including the Company’s Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors,
employees of the Group and other eligible participants as defined under
the 2013 Share Option Scheme) who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 May 2023, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the 2013 Share
Option Scheme and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
“2023 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose to reward participants as
defined under the 2023 Share Option Scheme (including employee
participants and service providers) who the Board considers have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The scheme mandate limit is
the total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all options
and share award scheme (if any) and any other share option scheme of the
Company (if any), and shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue on the adoption date of 2023 Share Option
Scheme (i.e. 149,970,500 shares). The service provider sublimit, being a
sublimit under the scheme mandate limit, is the total number of shares
which may be issued in respect of all options and share awards to be
granted to the service providers under the 2023 Share Option Scheme,
share award scheme (if any), and shall not in aggregate exceed 0.5% of
the total number of shares in issue on the adoption date of 2023 Share
Option Scheme (i.e. 7,498,525 shares).

The 2023 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years until from
adoption date until 24 May 2033 and the main terms are similar to 2013
Share Option Scheme. No further options of Company shall be offered or
granted by the Company under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, but the
options which had already been granted and remain outstanding shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue.

No option was granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and 2023
Share Option Scheme (collectively, the “Scheme”) during the year
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year were as follows:

Name or category
of participant

Chief Executive
Officer
Mr. Wu Weixian

Other employees
Inaggregate

Other participants
In aggregate

g8t
ELEEY]

a3

Ho

[BExE

AR
a5t

Aok

st

Movements of Company’s share options under the Scheme during the REA -
Number of share options
BhREHA
Date of
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At grantof share
1 January during during during 31 December options (a)
2023 the year the year the year (d) 2023 (dd/mm/yy)
R R RhERE
St 2 ~Bcf AH(a)
-A-B  ERERY  FREAE FRBAM@ T=A=t-B (R/A/%)
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 29/04/22
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
7,200,000 - - (7,200,000) - 29117
7,952,000 - - (1,700,000) 6,252,000 09/0119
12,140,000 - - (2,600,000) 9,640,000 28/08/19
11,300,000 - (1,458,000) (2,240,000) 7,602,000 26/08/20
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 31/03/21
5,000,000 - - (1,000,000) 4,000,000 29/04/22
46,592,000 - (1,458,000 (14,740,000) 30,394,000
400,000 - - (400,000) - 29117
360,000 - - - 360,000 09/0119
360,000 - - - 360,000 28/08/19
480,000 - - - 480,000 26/08/20
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 29/04/22
2,600,000 - - - 2,200,000
55,192,000 - (1,458,000 (15,140,000) 38,594,000

(@  The vesting period of the share options for both 2013 Share Option (a)

Scheme and the 2023 Share Option Scheme is determined by the

Board on a case by case basis, but in any case, from the date of the

grant until the commencement of the exercise period should not be

less than 12 months.

(b)  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in (o)

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the

Company’s share capital.
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20/04/23-28/04/28

20/11118-28/11/23
09/01/20-08/01/25
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31/08/22-30/03/27
20/04/23-28/04/28

29/11/18-28/11/23
09/01/20-08/01/25
28/08/20-27/08/25
26/08/21-25/08/26
20/04/23-28/04/28

Exercise
price of
share
options (b)

BRE
TEE(Db)
HKS$
i

1.134

2125
1.500
1.380
0.900
1.470
1134

2125
1.500
1.380
0.900
1134
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Closing
price of the
Company’s
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immediately

before the
date of

the grant (c)
PERLER
BEA-X%
ARG

W E# (o)
HKS$

B

1.130

2.095
1.460
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(c) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as immediately before
the grant of the share options is the Stock Exchange closing price on
the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the options.

(d)  Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme due to
resignation of employees or still not exercised at the expiry date.

The weighted average closing price of Company’s shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised by employees was
HK$1.26.

The total number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of 2013 Share Option Scheme at the beginning of the reporting period and
the date of the termination. i.e. 25 May 2023, was 101,236,800 and
107,196,800 respectively.

The total number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme at the time of the adoption of the 2023
Share Option Scheme, i.e. 25 May 2023 and the end of the reporting
period was 149,970,500 and 149,970,500 respectively. The total number
of options available for grant under the service provider sublimit of the
2023 Share Option Scheme and the end of the period was 7,498,525 and
7,498,525 respectively.

During the reporting period, no share options granted under 2013 Share
Option Scheme were cancelled. As at 31 December 2023, the Company
had 38,594,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 2.57% of the Company’s weighted average
number shares in issue for the year. The exercise in full of the remaining
share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue 38,594,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company,
additional share capital of HK$1,929,700 and share premium of
approximately HK$45,808,000 (before share issue expenses).

The conditions in relating to the basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted, the amount payable on acceptance of the offer and the
period within which payment must be made for the acceptance of the offer
of both 2013 Share Option Scheme and 2023 Share Option Scheme are
the same and the detailed disclosures are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements. The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 149,970,500 shares representing approximately 10.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

ESNAFRROREBERONESZNRAR

RZFBZ=FF+ZA=+—H8 EFRBIENER
Ak E AR AR (T & R A KA E GO ([ % F &
B0 EXVED) B - BEERGD REHF - #E
SEHERNARBRBEES RAEEHIE 2 KFERNE
ft RBEETAREFETES I HHEEST
BIZERE AN R REZ T s oA B &I T

RARBEBRP TR

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest
BFENRODEE  SHRERME

Directly Share
beneficially option
Name Notes owned granted
BEEN
=18 i ERERESR B
Directors
BE
Ms. Li Kei Ling (a) 107,372,000 -
FHRLZT
Mr. Hung Yung Lai (a) 1,880,000 -
RERIE R4
Mr. Leung Hong Man (b) - -
Chief Executive Officer
B
Mr. Wu Weixian (c) 2,000,000 6,000,000
REBxE
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Through
controlled
corporation

BB S
DEFE

596,616,000

596,616,000

112,284,000

Total

mE

703,988,000

598,496,000

112,284,000

8,000,000

Approximate

percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital (%)
FSR R NN
EBITREN
A7 (%)

46.92

39.89

7.48

0.53



Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated corporation:
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Percentage of
the associated

Name of Number of corporation’s
associated Relationship Ordinary Capacity and issued share
Name of Director corporation with the Company shares held nature of interest capital (%)
1R AR R
2 BITRAR
EEEE HEEEER R A B M BA R BESERYE SORERMEEHE A7 (%)
Ms. Li Kei Ling Fortune United The Company’s 2 Through a controlled 50
THB T Group Limited holding company corporation
RNAREIER A A iR — Al AR
Mr. Hung Yung Lai Fortune United The Company’s 2 Through a controlled 50
ARRIAE S A Group Limited holding company corporation
A REIER A A iR — RSl A R
Notes: P
(@) 596,616,000 shares of the Company are held by Fortune United Group @ 596,616,000 R ARBIRME—RRABER S

Save

Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Keysmart
Enterprises Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling, and Hunwick
International Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai, are each
beneficially interested in 50% of the share capital of Fortune United Group
Limited.

112,284,000 shares of the Company are held by Toyo International
Investment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Hong
Man and Mr. Leung Yiu Sing are each beneficially interested in 50% of the
share capital of Toyo International Investment Limited.

Interest of 6,000,000 underlying shares are the share options granted to Mr.
Wu Weixian under the share option scheme of the Company. Mr. Wu Weixian
is deemed to be interested in the shares which will be issued to him upon his
exercise of options, representing approximately 0.40% of the Company’s
issued share capital as at the date of this report. Details of Mr. Wu Weixian’s
interests in the share options of the Company are disclosed in note 32 to
financial statements.

as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the

Directors or Chief Executive Officer had registered an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company

or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

+E fif BX 32 89 22 &) Fortune United Group Limited FT 3%
A ° Fortune United Group Limited #9R% 78 R 2= H 35 %
1% & ¥ A ) Keysmart Enterprises Limited [ F1 f&
1854 2 & ¥ A B9 Hunwick International Limited & B
B A 50% #x o

(o) 112,284,000 R AR BN B — KRR B A ML
ARIEGEERREBRARMEE - REEBREES
FRAFR D HITRAHRRRER A RERRTE
EEEHER50%Em o

€ 6,000,000 f% 48 Bl B 10 By i o AR 5 AR R ) BB AR A AT
ERTREBLANERE REBAEREAHS
BITEZI B BT W 2 DR - HEAR
RIRAREBEETRINDA0.40% - BEREBLE
AR RS R AR 2 M R B S R B TS R R I 32 -

B EadES  RARETIEZ A - SEEEHEERN
ARE s B REREE R, - BN HES
T BEAAREE SRR GRDI S 352 15 T LARCER
FRBE LT RAREFETEZIZNEETAAEM
BARB MBI AHERSORR
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share option scheme”, “Directors’
and Chief Executive Officer’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 32 to financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Notes Nature of interest

£ Mz HERME

Fortune United Group Limited (a) Directly Beneficially owned
EREnlAR

Keysmart Enterprises Limited (@) Through controlled corporation
BT AERE

Hunwick International Limited (a) Through controlled corporation
BBEHIAREE

Mdm. lu Pun (b) Family interest

w2+ FE#R

Mr. Li Tung Ming Directly Beneficially owned

FERALE EREnlAR

(c) Through controlled corporation

ARG AERE

Time Lead Investments Limited (c) Directly Beneficially owned
EREnlAR

Toyo International Investment Limited (d) Directly Beneficially owned

REFBRKREERQA BEEEaH#SR
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ESBERDVERNER

Bt bl [RBRCRERT &) ) —66 - [E S MR IRG &
MR R MR | — 8 R IRAR M 82 A
HRERRIRENTEIN FAALBINES -
EWRBIARM 185 FRER A BKB AR A
B REFN AR BRSNS - HWFITEE
RSN - HARE - EERABSEEAMER
AR MR ZEE - ASEFATREEREMEAR
EERER -

FERRKRHEAMALTARD RAAEER D AE

N2

B

RIZBEZ=F+"A=+—H REEFRHFEK
BI1% 336 AN AR BIFEN RS RLM EAsk - ®
ARBAD RAARER O O EEIORREININT

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share Long position/
Shares held capital (%) short position
WIEEDRE BT
BFENRGBE RENBEIL(%) ¥R %A
596,616,000 39.77  Long position
HE
596,616,000 39.77  Long position
wa
596,616,000 39.77  Long position
HE
598,496,000 39.89  Long position
ey
224,000 0.02  Long position
TR
80,000,000 5.833 Long position
ey
80,000,000 5.33  Long position
TR
112,284,000 7.48  Long position

wE



Name Notes Nature of interest

=18 Mzt REmME

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai (e) Family interest

BEBLL FE#ER

Mr. Leung Yiu Sing (d) Through controlled corporation

AR S BIBIESI AR

Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong () Family interest

KEFRL FE#ER

FMR LLC (9) Through controlled corporation
BIBIESI AR

Notes:

(@  The issued capital of Fortune United Group Limited is equally beneficially

owned by Keysmart Enterprises Limited and Hunwick International Limited
which are in turn, respectively, wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling and Mr. Hung
Yung Lai, Executive Directors of the Company.

Mdm. lu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Hung Yung Lai.

The issued capital of Time Lead Investments Ltd. is beneficially owned by Mr.
Li Tung Ming.

The issued capital of Toyo International Investment Limited is equally
beneficially owned by Mr. Leung Hong Man, the Non-executive Director of
the Company and his father Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai is the wife of Mr. Leung Hong Man and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Hong Man.

Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong is the wife of Mr. Leung Yiu Sing and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice of FMR LLC filed
for the relevant event dated 30 September 2021 as shown on the website of
the Stock Exchange, the relevant interests of FMR LLC were held via FMR
LLC and its subsidiaries and the percentage of the Company’s issued share
capital was based on 1,497,149,000 shares, the number of shares in issue
as on 30 September 2021.

Number of
Shares held

FENROEE

112,284,000

112,284,000

112,284,000

119,776,545

BiaE

@)

Report of the Directors
EEgRE

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital (%)
WIEE DR E BT
BRAENE D (%)

Long position/
short position
BEKR
7.48  Long Position
A

7.48  Long Position
HE

7.48  Long Position
A

8.00 Long Position
HE

Fortune United Group Limited ¥ & % 77 #& &N
Keysmart Enterprises Limited & Hunwick International
Limited F¥) F 25 B ° Keysmart Enterprises Limited
X Hunwick International Limited % 3l 1 7K A & B9 #4177
EEFTHR T T RAEMEREDZEERSR -

LT R RRRME SR AR ACAR - MR R RRRIIE 5
ERANARREIRD AR

Time Lead Investments Limited &) & 2 17 fx A~ fh 2= 56
AEEBERES -

RERREEERDAIMNEEITRAD BB AR R
FMITESRRRALE MR ZORRBK T EFHE
=R °

BEHL T ARFEREENERRE  WRERNRER
FERFBOARRARM P HEAER -

REFLLBRBALNRS - HRR AR RER
Se 5 M)A 2 R o A M

BN XA BERN T REBEFMRLLCABIAZZ
Z—FNA=Z+AREBEEGEN AR EZRER
A FMR LLCHIHE#E 2= Jh R FMR LLC R H [T & 2~
AEAERRBRBE-_Z-_—FNA=1+tHEHTRH
1,497,149,000fGT EE AR AR B E#ITRAN B ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other than
the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s interests
and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Kei Ling
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR

Ernst & Young K& =T AD = 7 P Tel =35  +852 2846 9888

27/F, One Taikoo Place EBHIRBR2EITON Fax fEE: +852 2868 4432
ii 979 King's Road Rty — 2742 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 76 to 201, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BRHBEE (ER)BRQE
(EHSHSEMRINAERQE)
EERR

2R

AZBED (AT M) EFBAINBRET6E
201 ERInSA (BB BRARATERIEAR))
REKBRABUATEHE EEE DHESMBEHRE
iEeMBRRBENR_S_=F+-_H=+—H
R MBANREBREZ A L FERNFESERR
FAZENRER HAEREHRMEARERE
xR AREBEEZ G BRERNEE P RERM

BMRBA ZEFEUBRREBREEKR S LR
ZEg((BEREIEAZE S ) RANBEKRRM KR

SEN(ERFBREERDEEMAABRRE
SER-_ZE_=F+-_A=+—HNESHHIR -
&ﬁétiziﬂiirﬂﬁ HEMBRAREEADR

B VERREE ARGRIDNEEZ KL RR -

I
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

70 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B354 (#28%) AR 2 7]
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BREEE

Impairment of goodwill acquired in business combination

REBEOF P KB BBl (E

The Group had goodwill amounting to approximately RMB241
million as at 31 December 2023, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries. Goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”), which was expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

MRZZEZ=F+-"A=+—H S5ERKEWEQRHSHE
BOARE 21 BETT - BESSREAH RIS HHF R ZES
EanBeEdrER([ReEELEMU]) -

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to perform impairment testing
for goodwill annually at the end of each reporting period. The
impairment testing performed at the end of the reporting period
was based on the recoverable amount of the respective CGU to
which the goodwill was allocated. Management performed the
impairment testing based on the value in use calculation using
discounted cash flow projections. The determination of value in
use of the respective CGU involved significant judgements.
BEBREMBRELER - EEEARNGFREHREEEET
BWEA - mERARETRREASR T REREMESR S E
EBUMAINESEET EEEREABETSETEETR
BAR  ERAEEDERMRFESRERAETE - BEEMEBER
CELBNZERABEYREZE AL -

The Group’s disclosures about goodwill are contained in note 2.4
Material accounting policies — business combinations and
gooadwill, note 2.5 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates — impairment of goodwill and note 17 Goodwill to the
consolidated financial statements.
EEEAERENREENEN GRS BREMT24ETZ G5
R — ¥BEREE - ME2s X B HE kb — 8
WERME17EER -
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BRETEE (E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAWETTMMELERETSE

We involved internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the key assumptions and methodologies used in
the impairment analysis including, in particular, the discount

rate and terminal growth rate.

BAFEABEEER2 R R BRI ERED T AR
RBRZLITERE (LEZ)RREFKABRE

We paid specific attention to the forecasts used with respect
to future revenue and budgeted gross margins by comparing
the forecasts with the historical performance of the respective
CGU and the business development plan.

BAVEBDE BB AR KA RIERIEN XA HOIER - WK%
FRAREREELEURBERRMEBERSIETY
B

Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures concerning goodwill in the consolidated financial

statements.

7
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE REMBET GRSV BRRAXKENERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) (%)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine HEBEZEZESEBMNEET  BMETHLESEIE
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the HAPGEMBRRNEARREE - i B H
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore BT EIE - R ZEAIR S P MZESE © B
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report EERFERIATEEHEBEELEAREE - =X
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or ERmERNBERT  BEEEBEHAREMBES

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should EBREEEmMEKNEERERBESHAEEENA
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of Bhz - BRPIE T EELZER T ERSTEBZ
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest FIE -

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent RNEZBAMRENETIEEEBARTEERRE
auditor’s report is Wang Jun Ying.

Ernst & Young ZKET AT EBAT
Certified Public Accountants HESETAD

Hong Kong BB

22 March 2024 —ENFE=A=+=H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBRER

Year ended 31 December 2028 HE—Z-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—=E_-= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBT T AREET T
REVENUE WA 4 1,151,145 1,277,682
Cost of sales FHE AR (509,626) (504,131)
Gross profit EF 641,519 773,551
Other income and gains E AU A Rz 4 185,771 86,948
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDIHE R (147,049) (142,733)
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (113,206) (122,058)
Research and development costs T 9E R FA B A AR (90,808) (79,478)
Other expenses HEthE A 5 (20,248) (15,546)
Finance costs Wi%sE R 6 (989) (371)
Share of losses of an associate X e 1 /NI o) E = (40,933) (61,905)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT R A 7 414,057 438,408
Income tax expense FriS#i 11 (91,390) (82,557)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AREE A 322,667 355,851
Attributable to: LA &S IEFELS -
Owners of the parent ISTNGIEZZ DN 326,000 358,057
Non-controlling interests FEfE I = (3,333) (2,206)
322,667 355,851
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY HH AEG
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT &RZE7| 13
Basic, for profit for the year AR UARFERFFE RMBO0.2174 RMB0.2389
Diluted, for profit for the year BE - UARFERNFE RMBO0.2170 RMB0.2383
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive loss that may
be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation
of the Company’s financial statements

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

mEZHEBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

REFHF

MRS RED BEBRRE
Hih 2w EE

BEBINEIMEL 2 BN Z5

RS MR ED B ERE RN

Hh 2 m e

BEARRRZMBHREAMELEZ
PEHERE

FEERBREMEEKEARE

FEERBREZEKEAE

AR TR
SRTEAA
SRS

2023 2022
—_E-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT

322,667 355,851
(2,679) (10,414)
6,304 18,819
3,625 8,405
326,292 364,256
329,625 366,462
(3,333) (2,2006)
326,292 364,256
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

31 December 2023 M—Z—-=%+—-HA=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets
Construction in progress
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Investment in an associate
Loans to an associate
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Long-term prepayments
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and notes payables
Other payables and accruals
Derivative financial instruments

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities
Income tax payable
Other liabilities, current

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

78 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B354 (#28%) AR 2 7]

FRBEE

L E

B

EREEE

TR

GES

HiEmp EE
R—EE AR ZEE
EXTHEBLE QT
NAREFEREESTA
BREZVBEE
RN K
EEFIHEE

FEMEE E AR

hBEE

TR

FEWE 5 MR IEFIA
TR - A EUGRIA K
Hib B E
UAREFFEREZHFA
BaRcMBEE

B RRTTHER

N

FHEZEBE

mMEBE EME

RBRE

(ANEE IES: T8
Hip AR IBIRE
TROTETA
ARRITREMEE
HERE

e P
HtpBE - R

mEE

.

EREEE

=

FREEE

Notes

i 5

14

15a
16
17
18
19
19

23

22
29

20
21

22

23
24

25
26

27
15b

30

2023 2022
—EC-=F — =z
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFIT
758,907 696,122
2,739 -
101,456 109,603
356,898 495,144
241,158 241,158
288,307 295,027
- 25,345
106,457 51,825
20,000 -
7,564 7,564
18,977 6,860
1,902,463 1,928,648
211,107 241,746
321,996 402,850
120,396 103,782
160,871 181,357
905,826 811,682
1,720,196 1,741,417
- 2,578
1,720,196 1,743,995
162,161 224,073
341,129 516,068
- 474
120,060 6,434
364 1,534
45,226 8,650
- 174,824
668,940 932,057
1,051,256 811,938
2,953,719 2,740,586




NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Government grants
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the parent

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

LI Kei Ling
ZH®
Director

EF

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2023 HN—ZE—-—=%+—-A=+—H

Notes
B 5L
FRBEE
BRI 8 3R 28
BERIBE & 29
HESE 15b
IERB B EE
BEE
R
BRAREEAEGER
BT AS 31
e 33
IEIE RS M s
ERmE

HUNG Yung Lai
Rl
Director

EF

2023 2022
—EC=F — =z
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
- 300
94,382 89,975
103 444
94,485 90,719
2,859,234 2,649,867
80,455 80,389
2,774,201 2,561,567
2,854,656 2,641,956
4,578 7,911
2,859,234 2,649,867

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z2—=44%% (9



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

Year ended 31 December 2028 HE—Z-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEE RS
Share Capital Share Statutory ~ Exchange Total Non-
Issued  premium redemption option Contributed surplus  fluctuation Other  Retained  equityof controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve profits  theparent interests equity
ERER BhE iEB%  ERRE 88 R
BEfkE  RGEE it B #0E% Mg BE  EUEF REEN  BRAE  BREE  EREE
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 31) (note32)  (note33)  (note33)  (note33)  (note33)  (note 33)
(& 31) (WaEs2)  (W&ss)  (WiEss) (WSS  (M&ss) (WD)
At 1 January 2023 R=F-=5-A-A 80,389 2911% 8,106* 11,605 100,475 424,068* 3916 (1,114 2,011,900+ 2,641,956 7911 2,649,867
Proft for the year AERER - - - - - - - - 36000 326,000 (3333 322,667
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AREERE - 2 G -

Exchange diferences ERZE - - - - - - 3,625 - - 3,625 - 3,625
Total comprehensive income forthe year A& 2T liss 45 - - - - - - 3,625 - 36000 329625 (3333 326,202
Final 2022 dividend declared ER-E-FRHRE 12 - - - - - - - - (96,0400 (96,040 - (96,040
Exercise of share options BREGE 66 1,325 - (219 - - - - - 1,172 - 1,172
Equity-settled shere option arangements AR (A BRER B 2 - - - (1,019) - - - - - (1,019) - (1,019)
Lapse of share options R EE 2 - - - (3,658) - - - - 3,658 - - -
Interim 2023 divicend “E-CERERE 12 - - - - - - - - (21,038) (21,038) - (21,038)
Transfer from retained profits BRERFImEE - - - - - 54,864 - - (54,864) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RoE-=5+-f=1-H 80,455 4,236* 8,106* 6,700 100,175* 478,932 7,541* (1,114 2,169,616 2,854,656 4578 2,859,234
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of & WEFEA L ARK2,774,201,0007C (=B == 4 :

RMB2,774,201,000 (2022: RMB2,561,567,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREEKR

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRAERAEGER
Share Capitel Share Statutory  Exchange Total Non-
Issued premium  redemption option  Contributed surplus fluctuation Other ~ Retained equiyof  controling Total
capltal account reserve reserve surplus resere reserve reserve profs ~ theparent  interests equity
ERER e EeRlh  EXRD BA7 FEHER
BERA  ROAE G BE  #ARR yN62 [E  HbkRE Bar  BRLE  BRER  EneR
Notes RVB'0O00  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB0O00  RMB'000  RMB0O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
WE  ARBTn ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARET:R
(note 31) (ote32)  ote3y  (ote33)  (ote3d  (oted3  (note 33)
(MzEs1) (Ee2)  (Witss)  (MaEss)  (Mass)  (WEss)  (Wid)
At 1 January 2022 R-2--£-f-A 80,370 2,521 8,106" 19578" 100,175 378987 4,489 = 1795466° 2,380,714 17,147 2,397,861
Profit for the year RERRT = = = = - - - - 38057 358057 (2208) 355,851
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AREERE - 2 G -

Exchange diferences ERZE - - - - - - 8,405 - - 8,405 B 8,405
Total comprehensive income forthe year A& 2T liss 45 - - - - - - 8,405 - 8057 366462 (2206 364256
Contrbution froma —(EERER 2R

non-controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 500 500
Acquisttion of non-controling interests R RES - - - - - - - (1114) - (1,114) (7,530) (8,644)
Final 2021 dlvidend declared ER-E--ERHRE 12 = = = = = = = - (19370 (79810) - (19810)
Exercise of share options by 14 19 390 - 62 - - - - - 347 - 347
Equity-settled shere option arangements AR (B RER B 2 - - - 4.910) - - - - - 4.910) - 4.910)
Lapse of share options R EE kY - - - (3.001) - - - - 3,001 - - -
Interm 2022 dividend “E--EhERE 12 = = = = - = = - iy IR - i
Transfer from retained profits BREETIMER - - - - - 45,081 - - (45,081) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F+-A=1-H 80,389 2911 8,106" 11,605"  100,176"  424,088" 3916° (11147 201,900 2,641,956 7911 2,649,867
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * I EFEA EAR2,561,567,000 L(=ZF=—%F :

RMB2,561,567,000 (2021: RMB2,300,344,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

AR #2,300,344,0007T ) i &R & B IS AR K £ &Y
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2028 HE-ZT—=F+—

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of losses of an associate
Bank interest income
Loan interest income
Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on termination of a lease
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Gain on disposal of non-current
assets held for sale
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net
Equity-settled share option expense
Impairment of trade receivables
Provision of inventories
Government relocation compensation

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
notes receivables
Decrease in prepayments and
other assets
Decrease in deposits and
other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
notes payables
(Decrease)/increase in other
payables and accruals
Decrease in government grants
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

H=+—BL%E

Notes
B 5
RETFHNRESRE
B 7 A A
FRFIAE
B 7% & 6
FE(E—REt 2 AR 2 EE 19
BITHIBUA 4
B B4 4
NAREE BEESt ABRZ
B EERNRBIA 4
HEME  BERZHEERD
&8 7
IR AR IS 4
ME - BB RREITE
14
BB ETE
HEFHEFRBEE
ol g 4
BB B 18
FREEERTE 15
UARESEBEES ABZ
ZHBEENARBRE  F5E 4
VARG <7 A+ O BB AR S 7
FEWE 5 5RIE 2 BB 7
FEEME 7
BB E 4

FERLD, (M)
U E 5 B R IB IR
B, (g )
BNREHEEERD

B M A RUGRIRR D

e E 5 M RIEFIA
CRiA),/ 40

Hib R RIARTRIRE M
OB A>),/ 38

BB FOR

B AEH

RETHEENRENEFH
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2023 2022
—_E-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
414,057 438,408
989 371
40,933 61,905
(22,086) (17,658)
(3,841) (1,717)
(627) @4r7)
255 830
- )
61,260 49,686
43 =
- (89,670)
19,181 13,289
3,409 3,435
(5,677) (7,204)
(1,019) (4,910)
686 2,435
10,936 4,097
(139,833) -
378,666 502,812
19,703 (42,367)
73,383 (79,816)
1,588 510
47,139 9,786
(61,912) 80,861
(57,343) 25,967
(300) (800)
(62,524) (63,187)
338,400 434,266




CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Dividend income from financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of
non-current assets held for sale

Increase in time deposits with
maturity over three months

Purchase of wealth management
products

Redemption of wealth
management products

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment and
construction in progress

Net cash inflow from the disposal
of a subsidiary

Purchases of intangible assets

Purchases of financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Loan to an associate

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

|‘I_ éiﬁlﬁsﬁii

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

REFDNRERE

E%ﬁﬁﬂé

AREFEREZEH ABmZ
%Wﬁ%%% A
HEME - BFELREHRRB PIEHA

RSN EE-3:EL-L DN
it B AEMERE
B S E R D AERBRE

58 A BB = (A8 2 K
s#0
WEERER

FBEEREm

BEDE BEMREHEE X
EEIRE

HE—RNBARZ KRR SRA
Es-t!

BEBWEE
BEUARAEBEAEEEZFH A
Bz MBEE

ERT —HBE QA
Y iE JEi A i o

?X,\/£@1§FH E’]EEEE/ T2 TR

2023 2022
—_E-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
22,996 11,761

627 477

629 392

12,350 46,246

- 51,364

(139,000) (60,000)

(674,000) (678,500)
698,824 674,075

(199,553) (204,365)

- 20,800

(12,461) (21,303)

(31,485) (7,316)
(66,500) -

- (8,644)

(387,573) (175,013)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2028 HE—Z-_=F+-A=+—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid
Proceeds from exercise of share options
New bank loan
Interest paid
Payment for lease liabilities
Contribution from a non-controlling

shareholder

Net cash flows from/(used in)

financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Short-term deposits

84 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ZRES81%5 (2 R%

METDNRERE

BERRE

TR AR RE R FT1S RUIR
FTIRITE
ERTFLE
HEABNH

R AR R 20 F &

BMEEZDEL(ER)NERE

RSN
mEFRE

RERRLZEYORL),

12 0% H8
FRERREEFED

[EREH 2 FE  FE

FRASRAESEEY

RERREEEWERDINT

6 MR
EHRTER

JERRA]

Notes

=

38

2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
(117,078) (99,543)
1,172 347
120,060 6,434
(529) -
(1,555) (439)
- 500
2,070 (92,701)
(47,103) 166,552
411,682 237,744
2,247 7,386
366,826 411,682
156,744 246,387
210,082 165,295
366,826 411,682




CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman lIslands on 20 September 2002 under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is located at
Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) underwent a reorganisation on 21 June 2003 to rationalise
the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which the
Company became the holding company of the Group (the “Group
Reorganisation”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 July 2008.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
development, manufacture and sale of non-patented pharmaceutical
medicines including intermediate pharmaceuticals, bulk medicines
and finished drugs. In the opinion of the directors, Fortune United
Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
is the ultimate holding company of the Company.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 W-—ZE=—=F+-A=+—H
RNARFEBER
Rina (ZER)BRARI(TARFNDR=ZEE
“FAAZTEREREREARE(—S—
FE=6 LEERETNE_T_ERHE
HEAMKIRERRERAR - RAFZiF
3% =5 52 M 1 /2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands - 13 2 & b 2 #b ik Bl &
8 7 £ /B 5538 338 5 468 F1 0 3042 8001
02% °

BEEBEAR(CARRRENE AR (5
[(REEDWRBASHARBANRNERE
BeERXZAARDR (B ERET - R
“ERE=F XA +—H  RRBKAEKE
SEMBARNZERAR(SEEAE]) -

RRARRPR-_ZET=F+ A+ —BRERR
ERET -

REBRFNEEZREIEFFEYRE « RiE
RIHE - BIEPHE  REERKE - EFR
7 RN B AR R B S A S /9 A ] Fortune
United Group Limited @ 24N BB & AIERR A
Sk

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z2—=4#4% 85



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d) 1. RARTEBER ()

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES Bt A = & R
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 ARNBRZEZ=FF+A=+t—HZWBA
are as follows: AIFHEAT
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ of equity
registration Issued share/ attributable to
Name and operations paid-up capital Legal form the Company  Principal activities
MR R B#T/ RRAEEL
NREH Sk BERRE EEFA BREBAL FEEEK
Directly held
EBHR
Dawnrays International Co., Ltd.  British Virgin Islands US$100  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding
BB ARAR EBARAREE 100%€7T  ARAA REZMK
Dawnrays Biotechnology Hong Kong HK$100  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding
Capital (Asia) Limited
RinE MR & %R (M) B B0 BARAR REZR
ARAR
Indirectly held
BERE
Dawnrays International Hong Kong HK$500,000  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding and sale
Company Limited of pharmaceutical products
RnEBERHERAR Bk #1500,000t  BRAH REERRHEBEEM
Suzhou Dawnrays Chinese Mainland US$97,500,000  Foreign investment 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. # enterprise with pharmaceutical products
limited liability
N IRHERR A" H B A RE 97,600,000%7T HEREBRAA HENEEREER
Dawnrays Pharma Hong Kong HK$500,000  Limited liability 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
(Hong Kong) Limited products
Rinkx (BB)ERRA BE 500,000t BRARA HEREER
Dawnrays (Nantong) Chinese Mainland US$100,000  Foreign investment 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Science and enterprise with pharmaceutical
Technology Co., Ltd. * limited liability intermediates
Rin (@) BEMRERAA " PEIAE 100,000%€7 A EREBRAR HERHEBEDRR
Fujian Dawnrays Chinese Mainland RMB98,694,806  Limited liability 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. # pharmaceutical products
BRRRHEFR A" YN AR%98,694,8067C BRAF HERHEREED
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name

ACEL:

Nanjing PharmaRays Science and

Technology Co., Ltd. *
HRREREMRERAA"

Guangzhou PharmaRays Science

and Technology Co., Ltd. #
BMEERERRERAE

Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. #
BN SRR AR

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceuticals

Trading Co., Ltd.*

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

SRR ERR

B0

Chinese Mainland

hEARE

Chinese Mainland

EUN

Chinese Mainland

PEAR

Chinese Mainland

Issued share/
paid-up capital
BRI/
BHERAE
RMB49,500,000
AR 49,500,000 7T
RMB3,000,000
AR 3,000,000 75

RMB425,750,365

ANEH 425,750,365 7T

FNRREEESERAR®  HEAE -
W These subsidiaries were registered under PRC law.

Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co.,
Ltd. reduced the registered capital to US$100,000 in April 2023 with
shareholder’s approval, and returned US$14,900,000 to Dawnrays
International Company Limited. Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd. started the voluntary dissolution

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

1. RARFEEER (&)

Fi B A T ER (&)
Percentage
of equity
attributable to
Legal form the Company  Principal activities
NG )3
EERR BREBAL FEEK
Limited liability 65%  Research and development of
pharmaceutical products
ARAA RERREREER
Limited liability 65%  Research and development of
pharmaceutical products
BRATA RERAEEREER
Limited liability 100%  Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products
BRAR HERHEREED
Limited liability 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
products
BRAR HEREEMR

# % E B R Rz BUA R -

" M2023F4 8 - Rin(MBd) BERKBERA
RIESARRALE - 155 E AR ZE 100,0003
7 & 3R [6]14,900,000 3 7T T B In B R A TR
AR e Rim (FiR) 8 &R B R A AR 2023
FTRHFRBEREEERF - w2024 F 1

procedure in the second half of 2023 and was deregistered in January A TEEESH
2024.
& On 17 August 2023, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., 8 HMRGBEESERAFMN2023F8 /17

Ltd. was established as a fully owned subsidiary of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. As of 31 December 2023, Suzhou Dawnrays

Pharmaceuticals Trading Co., Ltd has not operated.

A AN RIEREGRARZENEBA
A BE2023F 12 A31 HEHMNEHRBEEZ S
BIRARNALE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023

2.
2.1

88 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ZRES81%5 (12 R%

RZZE_=F+=A=+—8H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
that have been measured at fair value. Non-current assets held for
sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Cont’d)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 17
Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

@)
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Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the

Group’s financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

()

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy align with
the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

The amendments did not have any material impact on the
overall deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

)
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Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for
the affected entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar
Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two
legislation is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the
amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when
they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and IAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)!
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)!
Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements’
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application
of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right
to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own
equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required
for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is
required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative
information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall
estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those poalicies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and other comprehensive income of an associate is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in
an associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of an associate is included as part of the Group’s
investment in an associate.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the

acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Cont’d)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

98 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED SRE:8I% (#2A%) AR A 7

EBesREE ()

EERIIEKRAGE  EEEARE B
PRI R s S AN SR B ST AT 5 B MR R 07 ik
B ARERRE  BREMKERENEEN
PR B ERNEZRE - MAKREREMER KR
PIREEEFENARE  FHEREZE /R
BaEAER SR ERE RS -

R HERIR - BRRAREFRERES
B - BBASFHEREAR  SHEMHH
ERIBENNEBRREES TRERER - Alg
FREHETAR - AEERT —A=1—8
ETHENFERENR - SETRERR
BUYEE R EEBEHELE 2B/ ERER
HEERNAFZBRBEZAEEEEREE
ABEMNRERSEEEMAL - MBAR N
AEEALSKEMEEKRBEIAEEXFEM
Sz FEALAER o

BEDBETEEEEECHEELEM (K
ReEEBUAR) 2 KOS BETE - MR
SELABEM (KRESEEBMAR) 2 ATKE S
BERREE - BIRARERSR - s EER
ZREBEN SR EZHRRED -

HEEEIETREELEM(KREELE
fARR)) Mz BN BN EHEHE  AEE
EHEEBNIREREERE - ErHEER
HENABR ST AREHNREE - £&BR
THENEE - HRBEMEEXBNABEE
MRS ELBMHNREBNRLETIE -



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

Level2 —

Level 3 —

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EREFEE(E)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES hik
These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different ZEMBREAARBZY - NRERERFZ
from the Company’s functional currency, Hong Kong dollar. As the B — B  AREEREARAEBRARLZH
major revenues and assets of the Group are derived from operations NAKEERE - AR AEBENEFERARE

in Chinese Mainland, RMB is chosen as the presentation currency to
present the financial statements. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional

currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or

loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for

each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

JERRA]

ERETERENER  FHEBEARBES
Eﬁi‘%i&%Z%ﬁ‘JEﬁ% cARBEEERETEALR
SRR MEERYBRREIINEB
LAEZEJ“EE%E%

BERCENINERGRINRZERS
BHEXTEARR - IMNETIEN BRI
BfE - AR ERRNERNEERE
cFIEHEBMHRABEIFEE

R A ABER ©

NS E RIRE R A ENIFEHIRE
DRERXZEANERBRE - LINERAR

EBEFENIFEREE KAFEQAEEE
HEVEXME - MERAABETENIEEHK
HEPEAM R EEREERZEE ARE
BEEPNRENEETEZ-BREZ  RE
fiEm SR ERER A EERENRE D
PESLZRE - TR B 2 T Y g S 1R A

2) -

EEERVRERRBNRERMIIEEE A
EFFEEAERIERMEENBREE -
B s A FTARERE - YA SHAERE
AEBRBAREMORERES B EEESR
3!5%-?”%'&%%25 o WIFTEZ E TR A TEM

AEEERFERNRENRIWREE
x%ﬁ%o



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Cont’d)

The functional currency of the Company, Dawnrays International Co.,
Ltd. (“Dawnrays (BVI)”), Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia)
Limited (“Dawnrays Biotechnology”), Dawnrays International
Company Limited (“Dawnrays International”) and Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Dawnrays Pharma”) (collectively the “Overseas
Companies”) is the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these companies are translated
into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of the Overseas Companies are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the Overseas Companies which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rate for the year.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(a

(b)
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Sale of pharmaceutical products

Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
pharmaceutical products.

Some contracts for the sale of pharmaceutical products
provide customers with rights of volume rebates, giving rise to
variable consideration.

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during the
period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates
are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To
estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied
and a refund liability for the expected future rebates is

recognised.

Rendering of pilot test services

Revenue from the rendering of pilot test services is recognised
over time because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

INCOME TAX
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit

or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
where the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,

are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland (the “Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Accommodation benefits
Contributions to an accommodation fund administered by the Public
Accumulation Funds Administration Centre in Chinese Mainland are

charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection

with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, an appropriate capitalisation
rate shall be applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme. Eligible participants
(the Company’s directors, employees of the Group and other eligible
participants) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby eligible participants render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with eligible participants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton
valuation model, further details of which are given in note 32 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 SETECR ()

108 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B ES81%5 (12R%

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the participants as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional

share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and notes receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set

out for “Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the

asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an

instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments) (Cont’d)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair

value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of

profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in

its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLS”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30

days past due.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit
ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

Simplified approach

For trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables,
other payables, lease liabilities, derivative financial instruments and
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and

settle the liabilities simultaneously.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified
as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as
held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3to 5 years
Buildings 20 to 25 years
Machinery and other equipment 51to 10 years
Office equipment 3 to 25 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is transferred to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and

ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for any impairment in value.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
expected useful life of 20 years. Subsequent expenditure is charged
to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset
or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the
sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 24 BEREFTBEGE)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (Cont’d)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria

is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production. The
estimated residual value is zero.

Category k=Pl

SRR

Patent and licence

Software i
Deferred development costs BIEF KA
Customer relationship PR
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

(a

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Office buildings 3to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
LEASES (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(b)
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

LEASES (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the

period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 SETECR ()

124 bAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B ES81%5 (1258

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial
assets, deferred tax assets, investment properties and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset

belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s

own equity instruments.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and

condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on a weighted-average basis

Finished goods and Cost of direct materials and labour and a
work in progress  proportion of manufacturing overheads based

on the normal operating capacity but excluding
borrowing costs

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 SETBCR ()
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERESZEEY
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position R ARTFHNRE KB CEEYREFER
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid S REFRARAERERSEMNERER
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are ¢ HEBZHEBRGMEFIERNERHRS

readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general policy for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income

recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

U

(i)

(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

24 BEAREEBE(E)

)y

ifF & THERME - RIBE RA KB AR TS -

@ FEEEAAEToA TS il A TEERR
TIHREK 8

M

(i

(i)

(o) EniEEE

BN EAAE IR S

HAREEAENEATE : X

RASESEFRRNEZEEE
ABHKE :

LEEM R NIIMREZ — AR A

BARE T -

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ZERAS - BRNBETRAE
T (/A —BERBNTRAR - HE
ASIECESG)- PN

ZEBRAKERERNEEEHE
SR 848 MR AR KAE A5

g

ZERX Lt @A T AL
SRR

Fiat @) BRI A T HZEEE
BEATESAZER(HZER
MERARDMNETEZEEREASHK

ZE BN Z B BT S B ) (AT K
BRA ARAEERAKENER
AIREFZERABR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z==4413 127



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023

2.4

2.5

RZZE_=F+=A=+—8H

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
and special dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement which has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Initial
capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgements that
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a
product development project has reached a defined milestone

according to an established project management model.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of pharmaceutical products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per
customer basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be entitled to a
rebate depends on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement and

accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume rebates
monthly and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates
of volume rebates are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the
Group’s past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements in the future.
As at 31 December 2023, the amount recognised as refund liabilities
was RMB12,750,000 (2022: RMB13,472,000) for volume rebates
which is set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and
notes receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type and ageing).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the finished drugs sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Cont’d)
The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and
notes receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of a similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or
competitor actions. Management reassesses these estimates at

each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2023 was RMB241,158,000 (2022: RMB241,158,000).

Further details are given in note 17.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further
details are contained in note 29 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and has two reportable segments as
follows:

(@ Manufacture and sale of finished drugs (including antibiotics
finished drugs and non-antibiotics finished drugs) (the “finished
drugs” segment)

(b)  Manufacture and sale of intermediates and bulk medicines (the
“intermediates and bulk medicines” segment)

Management monitors the operating results of these operating
segments for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, non-lease-related finance costs, government grants,
dividend income, fair value gains from the Group’s financial
instruments, share of losses of an associate, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and bank
balances, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 3. EESBER(E)
Intermediates  Elimination of
Finished and bulk  intersegment
drugs medicines sales Total
Year ended BE-E=-=f TR H
31 December 2023 TZA=+—HLEE 2% KRR DEBHEE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%¥TR AR%®TR AR%TR AR%®TR
Segment revenue 1L ONE
Sales to external customers HONEE 1,021,726 129,419 - 1,151,145
Intersegment sales DIEEHEE - 80,632 (80,632) -
Total segment revenue #BHBEWA 1,021,726 210,051 (80,632) 1,151,145
Segment results DEEEE 487,277 (32,692) - 454,585
Reconciliation: HE
Unallocated gains Kbl 145,811
Corporate and other unallocated 2% K& 2 fh R DB H
expenses (185,394)
Finance costs (other than interest ~ 8% & A GEFREEEFE)
on lease liabilities) (9495)
Profit before tax BRAE A& F 414,057
Intermediates Elimination of
Finished and bulk intersegment
drugs medicines sales Total
Year ended e — g i
31 December 2022 TZA=T+—HILEFE P % KR} 2 DERHEE e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT AREFIT ARETT ARBTTT
Segment revenue PEBA :
Sales to external customers HINEE 1,137,241 140,441 - 1,277,682
Intersegment sales DEEMHEE = 64,644 (64,644) -
Total segment revenue RABKA 1,137,241 205,085 (64,644) 1,277,682
Segment results DEEE 608,806 (17,775) - 591,031
Reconciliation: HE
Unallocated gains Ao B E 47,226
Corporate and other unallocated {2 [ E A
expenses ROBEZ (199,553)
Finance costs (other than interest 8175 &
on lease liabilities) (FREEEFE) (296)
Profit before tax B R A 438,408
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2023

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2022

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Assets held for sale

Corporate and other unallocated
assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

R-ZB-=%t+-A=1+—-H

2
&
i
[

CERIEMARDEEE

RZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H

STHEE:
G
FHECEE

CERAMRDEEE
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3. EXEIEER(A)

Finished
drugs

P
RMB’000
ARBT R

909,622

244,627

Finished
drugs

PX
RMB’000
ANRETT

996,973

291,842

Intermediates

and bulk
medicines
R
R 5
RMB’000
ARMT T

611,947

193,329

Intermediates
and bulk
medicines
g
KRR
RMB’000
ARETT

1,222,758

2,578

376,957

Total

BE
RMB’000

AR®T R

1,521,569

2,101,090

3,622,659

437,956

325,469

763,425

Total

B
RMB’000
ARETT

2,219,731

2,578

1,450,334

3,672,643

668,799

353,977

1,022,776
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Notes to Financial Statements
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3.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Year ended
31 December 2023

Other segment information
Share of losses of an associate
Impairment losses recognised in

the statement of profit or loss
Depreciation and amortisation
Capital expenditure

Year ended
31 December 2022

Other segment information
Share of losses of an associate
Impairment losses recognised in
the statement of profit or loss
Depreciation and amortisation
Investments in an associate
Capital expenditure
Assets held for sale

BE-ZE-=F
+T=ZBA=+—HLLEE

Rtz B&E R

i —TRBE QB2 EE
REBHERERLZ
BIERER

EREH

BARRX

Rt @&

i) NIl |
REBHRHERLZ
REEE

EREH
R—EBE QR KE
BRI

FHEZEE

3. EEIEER(E)
Intermediates
Finished and bulk
Drugs medicines Others Total
TR
5% KRR E Hity e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBT R ARBT ARBT R
- - (40,933) (40,933)
385 11,237 - 11,622
54,125 29,768 - 83,893
59,735 32,748 - 92,483
Intermediates
Finished and bulk
Drugs medicines Others Total
Sk
P 5% N JRH HAt mEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT AREFT ARETT
- - (61,905) (61,905)
4,662 1,870 - 6,532
51,994 14,416 - 66,410
- - 25,345 25,345
136,729 94,540 - 231,269
- 2,578 - 2,578
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3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
(@  Revenue from external customers

Chinese Mainland Fh B K e
Other countries HER
Total revenue FEU PN

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

(b)  Non-current assets

The Group’s operations are substantially based in Chinese

Mainland and 93% of the non-current assets, excluding

deferred tax assets and an investment in an associate, of the

Group are located in Chinese Mainland. Therefore, no further

analysis of geographical information is presented.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

KEEFEHZHA

Notes to Financial Statements

4.

MR
31 December 2023 R-_ZE-_=%+—-_HA=+—H
EEIEER (E)
HESE
@ KEIEBEF KA

2023 2022
—E_-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETIT
1,134,418 1,218,740
16,727 58,942
1,151,145 1,277,682

LA ABRERIEE P AAEMERE

b FRBEE

AEENEETERTEPEALE K
SBEBRHIFREEE(TBERLER

REEMR —RBZERQ

AZERE)EPHE

hEKRE  #ERBEENDRERE

—FOMARZHR -

WA~ EAbUA R W

AEBBRAHNDHTAT
2023 2022
—F== —T-CfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
1,151,145 1,277,682
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4.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of pharmaceutical products
Rendering of pilot test services

Total

Geographical markets
Chinese Mainland
Other countries

Total

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total

28

AR RS ER
BmERHE
TRt ERR RS
S

thEm5
SelEipN
HibBIR

B2

DON A

R—{ER SRS
R— B R IR

L

WA~ HWA R Wz ()
KEEFEHZKA
()  DHFURAEH

BE_Z_=F+-A=+—HILEE

Intermediates

Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total

TR
5% RER# HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARMF 5T ARBT 5T
1,020,090 129,419 1,149,509
1,636 - 1,636
1,021,726 129,419 1,151,145
1,016,460 117,958 1,134,418
5,266 11,461 16,727
1,021,726 129,419 1,151,145
1,020,090 129,419 1,149,509
1,636 - 1,636
1,021,726 129,419 1,151,145




4.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of pharmaceutical products
Rendering of pilot test services

Total

Geographical markets
Chinese Mainland
Other countries

Total

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total

AR REER
BmERHE
TRt BRI RS
S

hEmS
SelEipN
HibBIR

B2

DON A

R—{ER SRS
R— B R IR

L

Notes to Financial Statements

EEETe
31 December 2023 H-ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H
4. WA - B A R W (4)
REAFEFEHNZWA (&)
()  DIFRAEH (F)
HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—AHLFE

Intermediates

Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total

Hh ] B2
X B R JR R B B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT
1,136,219 140,286 1,276,505
1,022 155 1,177
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682
1,133,680 85,060 1,218,740
3,561 55,381 58,942
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682
1,136,219 140,286 1,276,505
1,022 155 1,177
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682
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4.

RZZE_=F+=A=+—8H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

() Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in
contract liabilities at the beginning of B R
the reporting period:
Sale of pharmaceutical products BLiEMES
(i) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceutical products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
pharmaceutical products and payment is generally due within
90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts
provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint.
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4.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

(i)

Performance obligations (Cont’d)

Rendering of pilot test services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and short-term advances are normally required
before rendering the services. Pilot test service contracts are
for periods of one year or less, or are billed based on the time
incurred.

The amounts of transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised
as revenue:
Within one year —FE LR
All the amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

Notes to Financial Statements
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4. WA~ HIWA R W= ()

REFFEHZWA ()
(i) BHIEML(E)
EH A A H R

BE RS RERSBANETER

TRBAEERE —REFBRMRE
I BERERT 2 Al BT F E R A
Ao ARABERBE R —FHHRE
AR - SRR E AR R RIRE -

R+-—B=+—8 ' 2EGBERZTXRELD
EFECREREED KRR HRHER
SR ¢

2023 2022
—Eg2-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
17,896 29,658
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4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d) 4. WA -~ EbIg AR iR ()
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETIT
Other income Hipg A
Bank interest income RITHI B UA 22,086 17,658
Government grants BUR SR 11,729 18,753
Loan interest income ERF B WA 3,841 1,717
Dividend income from financial assets INARBEFEEHE
at fair value through profit or loss BRZUBEENREIWA 627 477
Rental income He A 229 213
Others EAh 1,448 904
Total other income E g A 4E%8 39,960 39,722
Gains Wz
Government relocation compensation B HREmE 139,833 —
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair WARERTZA
value through profit or loss, net Eﬁi‘%iﬁEA/L@Wﬁ ' 5,677 7,204
Gain on sales of scrapped materials & MMl 301 344
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale HEFHEEEN KRS - 39,670
Gain on termination of a lease iz ool e - 8
Total gains U a5 48 2R 145,811 47,226
Total other income and gains HibUg A K Uzt 48 20 185,771 86,948

JERRA]



OTHER EXPENSES

Provision of inventories

Foreign exchange losses, net

Write-off of obsolete stocks

Impairment of trade receivables

Donations

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Others

Total

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank loans
Interest on discounted notes receivable
Interest on lease liabilities

Total

e
A5 R
s B 17
B 5 HOR 2 B

B

HEME - BELRBEE

Z B8
Hitp

RITERZF S
FE WS RAEIR 2 F| 8
HEABZHE

e

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

HithE A
2023 2022
—=E_-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETIT
10,936 4,097
5,526 4,537
2,104 2,776
686 2,435
273 199
255 830
468 672
20,248 15,546
B E
2023 2022
—E_= —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
594 -
351 296
44 75
989 371
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRFADREF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): RNEBH R ADEFI &R (GEA) T3&
BRETE :
2023 2022
—E-= ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E AR® TR AREETIT
Cost of sales* Fizk=dn NG 509,626 504,131
Depreciation of property, VI BB R RETE
plant and equipment 14 61,260 49,686
Depreciation of investment properties & 4T E 43 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets** FREEETE 15 3,409 3,435
Research and development costs: 95 R FESAC AN - 18
Amortisation of intangible assets*** | AEEE 6,197 4,679
Current year expenditure REESH 84,611 74,799
Total e 90,808 79,478
Lease payments not included in the TeREHEaGTECHS
measurement of lease liabilities 2,428 2,040
Auditors’ remuneration: ZER S ¢
Statutory audit service VA TE R AZBIAR 75 2,260 2,200
Employee benefit expense (including EBERARAY (BREEER
directors’ and chief executive BEME (H5E8)) -
officer’s remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries TERFES 167,835 149,384
Equity-settled share option expense VAR HESZ T e B AR A A 2 (1,019) (4,910)
Retirement benefits RURAER 12,498 10,542
Accommodation benefits EEmEA 7,266 5,969
Other benefits H 18 A 25,200 22,645
Total gk 211,780 183,630
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7.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

Notes to Financial Statements

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(Cont’d)

Foreign exchange differences, net
Provision of inventories

Impairment of trade receivables

Fair value gain on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, net

Bank interest income

Gain on disposal of assets held for sale
Government relocation compensation
LLoss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment

ERER -

FEEE

FE W TR IR 2 B E
RAREFEREEEH ABa
ZHBEEWS - FR

RITHBHA
HEFHEEEN RS

B r(E
HEME - BEK
REBEEFHENER

* The depreciation of RMB42,526,000 for the year (2022:
RMB34,073,000) is included in “manufacturing costs”.

ke

The depreciation of right-of-use assets for the year is included in

“Administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets amounted to RMB6,197,000

(2022: RMB4,679,000) for the year is included in “Research and
development costs” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit

or loss.

MR

31 December 2023 R-_ZE-_=%+—-_HA=+—H
BREIAEF (F8)

AR EHRHARNTEING,GIA) A%

HIREE - (&)

2023 2022

—=E_-= —EF-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P5E AR®TR ARETIT
5,526 4,537
10,936 4,097
5 686 2,435
4 (5,677) (7,204)
4 (22,086) (17,658)
4 - (89,670)
4 (139,833) -
5 255 830

* REFHFEHED ARK42,52600T(=F
——fF: AR®34,073,0007T) Bt A [&i&
EBH] -

- FAMERAREENEF AGSBRERMN (1T
BEM] -

o AKEEEPEEESIEEP ARYKE,197,0007T
(ZZ=——%F : AR¥4,679,0007T) Bt ALz
AEERN [HERFAEKA] -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

Fees e

Other emoluments: E b FrE -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R AEYET
Bonuses g5
Equity-settled share option expense LA Fist e 37 1< i B AR e el 2
Pension scheme contributions EARE AR
Subtotal /NET

Total e

(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

Mr. Lo Tung Sing, Tony B[R S A&

Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t 4
Ms. Lam Ming Yee, Joan MEREZ

Total RE

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).
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EERAEME

1R 15 b TR B R B8 A A5 B 383(1)(a) -
() * (0) R () EF IR 2 F 5 25 = 20 (B A8 &
EHRE) FRBEANEERARMENT -

2023 2022
—=E_-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETIT

1,335 1,267

3,767 3,573

800 960

262 (3,328)

148 135

4,977 1,340

6,312 2,607

(A) BIUFHTES
AEEBIIFATESTHRENT

2023 2022
—E-= —E- %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
326 309

326 309

326 309

978 927

RNEEZISERNIBILIEFHITEETNEM
e (ZT——F %)



8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(B)

AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

2023

Executive directors:
Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Huang Yung Lai

Subtotal

Non-executive director:

Mr. Leung Hong Man

Chief executive officer:
Mr. Wu Weixian*

Total

2022

Executive directors:
Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Hung Yung Lai
Mr. Chen Shaojun

Subtotal

Non-executive director:

Mr. Leung Hong Man

Chief executive officer:
Mr. Wu Weixian*

Total

—EC=E
HITES:

FHRUL
BERIE A

it

FNTES:

@

REBEL"
L

—EC-CF
HIES:

FHRLL
BAERAE

Mt

FHTES

RERRLE

o
REERL

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

RZZE—_=F+=A=+—H

31 December 2023

8. EZERAHRME (E)
(B) HITESE -  FHITESRAR
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled

and share Pension
benefits option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses expense contributions remuneration

‘ L EAp-1 DREX A _EBfe
e RENEFN ®e NBERERX HE 5 MemE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%Tn AR%Trn AR¥Tr ARETx=
43 988 - - 21 1,052
43 608 - - 21 672
86 1,596 - - 42 1,724
M - - - - 2M
- 2,171 800 262 106 3,339
357 3,767 800 262 148 5,334
4 938 - - 20 999
| 577 - - 20 638
- 264 - (3,568) 3 (3,301)
82 1,779 - (3,568) 43 (1,664)
258 - - - - 258
- 1,794 960 240 92 3,086
340 3978 960 (3,328) 135 1,680

Mr. Wu Weixian was appointed to act as the chief executive

officer of the Company in February 2022. His remuneration after
appointment as the chief executive officer comprised salaries,
allowances and benefits in kind of RMB1,748,000, bonuses of
RMB960,000, equity-settled share option expense of
RMB?240,000 and pension scheme contributions of RMB83,000.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

* REBREENR2022F2 AEZ T AR
DNRAE, - RIETEARD B BERE T
BREGE RHREDEIARE
1,748,0007T * 25 AR¥960,0007T -
BE RS A S Y A R #5 240,000 7T KRR &

AT &I TR A R EE 83,000 7T ©

FAMBEEENRXFAEREZETAME

HYZZHE
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included the chief

executive officer, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8

above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2022: four)

non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees for the

year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option expense
Pension scheme contributions

Total

Hx o R REMER
LA RSHE S A< ) s B A D 52
RIRE B

B

The number of non-director and non-chief executive, highest paid

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Total
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hfuGReSHMES

FRAEMNSSHIEE BEAE @ REZME
FBEN EXTES o SR (Z T = — 4 :

ML) FE=RIFBERDFH

T

BB R FEAR

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
5,542 4,699

241 119

235 217

6,018 5,035

M BN F TIARNFERERIFHERES

HrEfE B AT -

Number of employees

EEAE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-—F
T Z 71,000,000 7T - -
¥ 1,000,001 JTTZ2 A 1,500,000 7T 3
71,500,001 7T & A # 2,000,000 7T 3
2 4 4




10. RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND ACCOMMODATION

BENEFITS

In compliance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the “MPF Ordinance”), the Company, Dawnrays
International Company Limited, Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong)
Limited and Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Limited have
participated in the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee, to provide retirement benefits
to their respective Hong Kong employees. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme are made in accordance with the statutory limits prescribed
by the MPF Ordinance.

As stipulated by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state
regulations, the Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme. All employees are entitled to
an annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average basic
salary amount of the geographical area of their last employment at
their retirement dates. The Chinese China Subsidiaries are required
to make contributions to the local social security bureau at 16%
(2022: 16%) of the previous year’s average basic salary amount of
the geographical area where the employees are employed by the
Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries.

The Group has no further obligation for the payment of pension

benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out above.

According to relevant rules and regulations of the PRC, the Chinese
Mainland Subsidiaries and their employees are each required to
make contributions to an accommodation fund 8% to 10% (2022:
8% to 10%) of the salaries and wages of the employees which is
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre. There is no further obligation on the part of the Group except
for such contributions to the accommodation fund.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant obligations
apart from the contributions as stated above.

Notes to Financial Statements

10.

PR AR BT RE

RZF=_=F+=-A=1+—H
BB REEER

31 December 2023

EIRCGEHIMERBE A BED) ([RE2 R
BRE AAF - RInBEEROER QA -
RInHE(BER)ARAR  RRBEMKRE
ER(ZMARABREMA—EHREEE
(ABILERATRZERENE)  REE
EERMCRINER - MaES st 8IEH AR
THRIReR 2 RPIFTAT AR ERBERTE ©

BRBEBEZOERAE - PREAENBAREAS
HEERETE - MERENRERKAD AR
FREEERRBUHNTFHEAFEHEE L
PIsTENFERARE - FREAENEBARIZER
B EREREN  HFREERENTH
REEKTB A RIMREFHNTFHIEAFH T 16%
(ZBZZF - 16%)tE °

—=

B B FERHAIN  AEBES BERGIAE
R IARAER] -

BIEPEOEERARZER - FEARERBA
AREEREESEAREENTFERIERNS%
E10%(ZFE_—F :8%E10%)H—HAR
BEEERLEENTEESHR - BZER
FATEESHETON  REBWEHMEE o

Sh o REEWBEMBARE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023

11.

WZE-_=F+-A=+—8H
INCOME TAX

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 are:

Current income tax & BT S R
Charge for the year AEEZH
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHBERE
Deferred income tax (note 29) EIER A (FEE29)
Total tax charge for the year REEMBR HERE

Pursuant to section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, the Company has obtained an undertaking from
the Governor-in-Council that no law which is enacted in the Cayman
Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gain or
appreciation shall apply to the Company or its operations. The
undertaking for the Company is for a period of 20 years from 8
October 2002. The qualification was renewed with extension period
of 20 years from 19 September 2023. Accordingly, the Company is
not subject to tax.

The subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
are not subject to income tax, as these subsidiaries do not have a
place of business (other than a registered office only) or carry out any
business in the BVI.
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11.

g%t
HE T _=—FRK-_FT-_—_F+-_A=+—H
IFFEAMEHEHNEZEKIIAT :

2023 2022
—=E_-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETIT

98,895 60,287

205 277

(7,710) 21,993

91,390 82,557

REFEHERBERRZE(—ANNFEFTAN)
FolF ARARCDEBHEEGRITHBRE
HERSTEARHARRSAEEBNAMEE
A~ RERSIEEET - AR R B AR
RH-_ZEZ-_F+ANBERBER_+F - Z&
REBEH BE_T_=FhLA+LBEER
Z+F o AARBEM o

TA B B8 A BB A B R AT B SZ O B B8 1t B SR ZE A
MFRET > AZMBARNEBER RS
X (MR FERRIN) G B X
75 o



11.

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

The Hong Kong subsidiaries are subject to tax at a statutory profit
tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) under the income tax rules and
regulations of Hong Kong. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax
has been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in its
respective Hong Kong subsidiaries during the year (2022: Nil).

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law effective from 1
January 2008, the Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries are all subject to
income tax at the rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

On 21 October 2008, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) was qualified as a High-New
Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) of Jiangsu Province. As a result,
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical was entitled to a concessionary
rate of income tax at 15% for three years commencing on 1 January
2008. The qualification was renewed in 2023 and Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical was entitled to continue to enjoy the beneficial tax
rate of 15% as an HNTE for the years through 2023 to 2025 and
would apply for renewal of the qualification every three years.

On 2 December 2019, Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Dawnrays”) was qualified as a HNTE of Fujian Province. As a
result, Fujian Dawnrays was entitled to a concessionary rate of
income tax at 15% for three years commencing on 1 January 2019.
The qualification was renewed in 2022 and Fujian Dawnrays was
entitled to continue to enjoy the beneficial tax rate of 15% as an
HNTE for the years through 2022 to 2025 and would apply for

renewal of the qualification every three years.

All other subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland were subject to corporate
income tax at a rate of 25% in 2023.

Notes to Financial Statements

11.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

Frig®i (&)

REFENVAMESHARNERG - FENBE AR
BREELENERE166% (=T
16.6%) @Mt - BN AKBERAEREERTBNE
MEBARYEELRRVUEH - RY B/ EE
MEBELBEE (T _—F &) -

RER-_ZTN\F—H - HREERNTREEE
PRISHUE - PEAREMBARARESBRER
LA B 26% P S35 A0 o

RZZZNFT+AZ+—8  #HINERRES
R B ([BRM R IR 52 | ) BEULARA = 8 3l
E(TRFEMmEEE]) E% - Bt - #RINES
HuFEa 2T/ \F—A—BBN=FRZ
X 15% HBEAEHE ZBERR-_T_=F
BEREMN R IR EEG B R AERS T RITD
REEEZZ15%MNEEDE BT _=F=
“E_RE WE=FHFERES-

MNZZE—hF+_FA—-—H RERHIUELR
AR ([BERN]) EREEE Rt EE
%o Bt BERmAEE S —NF—A—
ARRN=FRNZEZ15%NEIMERE - &
BRI —FEPREER A AR IAER
BN REEEZZ15%MESRHE A=
S_FE_T-_RF WE=FHBZERE
/H\H o

FEAENAEEMHBRARR T _=FA
12 25% MR BN E IS

o
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

11.

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at

the statutory rate for the country or jurisdiction in which the Company

and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense

at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate to

the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Profit before tax

At the PRC’s statutory rate

Tax effect of profits entitled to tax
concession or lower tax rate enacted
by local authorities

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the
distributable profits of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries

Adjustments in respect of current income
tax of previous periods

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax credit for qualified research and
development costs

Tax credit for qualified equipment
expenditure for HNTEs

Tax losses not recognised

Tax losses utilised from previous periods

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

7t B4 A

RHPBDEER X
A EHIRE RN E 1
BETRERRZBERZE

AEBPEMNBLRRZA DR
MEZ 5% BINRE &

Frig®i (&)

PR R R A5 BT A LA R 22 R Ko EL R AR 4 it /8
DEEMBERBEEREER K E 2 HIR
SHENERBRERGFREZRA R - LRk

BERATEEERBE 2 HRMT

A RBE R AR B

PRI Z X
B NGB IR A BT B A A
HRPT1EH

A IEHAER R R R A R

PRSH (=i 3)
RERVIAE R
AR AR Z A R B B 18

EAREEBRVERIAH
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2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T X AREFIT
414,057 438,408
103,514 109,602
(47,301) (41,305)
22,946 20,286

205 277

6,615 12,963
(11,233) (10,591)

- (7,982)

17,486 7,960
(842) (8,653)
91,390 82,557




12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

Interim — HK$0.015 (2022: HK$0.015)

per ordinary share T =F : B%0.0157T)
Proposed final — HK$0.065 BRREAE - BRE B
(2022: HK$0.073) per ordinary share Y& 0.065 7T
(ZE——%F : #¥0.0737T)

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of
the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
weighted average number of 1,499,620,000 shares (2022:
1,498,551,000 shares) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

8=\

REIRE - FRE BB 0.0157T

2023 2022
—=E_-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
21,038 20,173
89,670 95,975

REFRIRENRAREFBHFAR AR
RBFREEB -

SARERRESEEARGERER

BREABFEEG QAL BRESEE AR
1 2N 4F 2 0 A 2 6F N B %17 1,499,620,000 %
Z IR YRS (=T = — 4 : 1,498,551,000
BR)EHE o

REF B R BRAFER T QR EBRE
SR EARIERFREGN - BIETE AR
Befn < ke IR B2 R F A B 31T B B AR
2 mEBEFEEREREN - MEAER
TTERE R A EE ER N BRI R 2 &
BT T BRI -
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Cont’d)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

on:

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the parent

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in
the basic earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:

Share options

Total

13. BRAEBRESKEARGERER

(&)
Y ARETESREAZF REEESREA
FIEY EUE -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
EZF
AR BRERFEA A
P55 F 326,000 358,057
Number of shares
R E
2023 2022
—E-= —E-4F
Thousands Thousands
F1z T4z
vy
STEEREARFMEAEA
BRI T AR INE T8
1,499,620 1,498,551
BESETE — gy
LB AT AT EL
fE AR 2,082 3,759
Pk 1,502,602 1,502,310
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

As at 1 January 2022

Additions

Transferred from construction in
progress (note 16)

Disposals

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Additions

Transferred from construction in
progress (note 16)

Disposals

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2023

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:

As at 1 January 2022

Depreciation provided for the year

Disposals

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Depreciation provided for the year
Disposals
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2023

Net book value:
As at 31 December 2023

As at 31 December 2022

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

14. Y% - - BERZE
Machinery
Leasehold and other Office Motor
improvements Buildings equipment equipment vehicles Total
HEEE BER
HRIB EF Hitkfs  BOAERE AE ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETR
B
R=B==f-f—H 6,587 243,416 595,772 14,045 14,341 874,161
NG - - 3,058 957 533 4,548
R TiEE (ME16)
- 287,909 94,006 1,763 1,310 384,988
HE - (397) (2,565) (561) (1,368) (4,891)
08 5 % 56 347 30 39 42 514
RZBZZ§+=ZA=+-H
k—Z-=%-A-H 6,643 531,275 690,301 16,243 14,858 1,259,320
NE - - 2,672 586 487 3,745
TRTiRaEE (M 16)
- 152,329 60,126 652 208 213,315
& - (99,001) (295,837) (2,179) (2,415) (399,432)
B 5 A 21 134 7 14 16 192
R-B-=f+=-A=1+—-H 6,664 584,737 457,269 15,316 13,154 1,077,140
ZitTERBME -
R-B-—F—-A-H 3,566 120,997 370,827 9,945 11,896 517,231
FRITERE 2,338 14,034 31,414 1,373 527 49,686
HE - (146) (2,087 (495) (1,238) (3,966)
[ 5 2% 21 129 17 38 42 247
R-B-—F+-A=+-H
k=ZB=-=f—-H-H 5,925 135,014 400,171 10,861 11,227 563,198
FARERE 730 22,746 35,506 1,503 775 61,260
meE - (70,292) (231,924) (1,941) (2,167) (306,324)
ERTIEES 9 53 7 14 16 99
RZB-=%#+-A=+-H 6,664 87,521 203,760 10,437 9,851 318,233
FREFE -
R-BE-=%+-F=1+-H - 497,216 253,509 4,879 3,303 758,907
R-BE--F+=-A=+-H 718 396,261 290,130 5,382 3,631 696,122

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZE—=441 153



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

15. LEASES

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and
office equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease
periods of 40 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office buildings
generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 years. Office equipment
generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually
of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@  Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2022 RZE-——F—H—H

Additions N

Disposal HE

Depreciation charge FEMR

Exchange realignment BEE 5 A B

As at 31 December 2022 and RZE-—F+=-A=+—H

1 January 2023 M=—F-=%—H—H

Disposals HE

Depreciation charge FrEMRR

Exchange realignment BEE 5 R B

As at 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+-_A=+—H
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15. A&

KEBEREBEA
AEERBEERLLETEANSENEREA

HEERHE

#) o BERRATEL —IRIER FRIA R

BEENRELEHRI020FWEE LM

WEREELLHAEH

Eo
&K

TEBREN

Ko PRABNHERBERIESF - WAE
RENHEEHBEER12MEAKERE R, LIE5
EBERE - —KM 5 @ AEE TR RAREE IR

SINTHEERDHBEERE -

@ RAREE
FARKEZEREEERAELESD

R

Leasehold Office
land buildings Total
HEL# N k]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBF T
108,883 1,872 110,755
- 355 888
- (612) (612
(2,841) (594) (3,435)
2,440 - 2,440
108,482 1,121 109,603
(5,891) - (5,891)
(2,751) (658) (3,409)
1,153 - 1,153
100,993 463 101,456
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15. LEASES (Cont’d) 15. #HE (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) REBEEREEA (F)
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases HEE
Disposal HE

Accretion of interest recognised FRNERF BHER
during the year
(BN

Payments

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into: PR I=1E
Current portion mENER D
Non-current portion EMBNE

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36
to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to all eligible covid-
19-related rent concessions granted by the lessors during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

R—HA—BZzEHE

Rt-A=t—RZKEE

FAREE 2 HERBREERZEH N
T~

2023 2022
—=E_-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETIT

1,978 2,507

- 8eS

- (520)

44 75

(1,555) (439)

467 1,978

364 1,534

103 444

HEBBEND B HTRY B REM T
36 FE -

AEEEHEEARB LT ——
ToA=+—HIEFERNGETHENS
BERECovid- 19N EHEBRERE
BRAEETIE
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15. LEASES (Cont'd)

15. #HE (&)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) REBEEREEA (F)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases © REZFPERANESHEBETEDT
are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 44 75
Depreciation charge of right of-use assets {FREEEHT &/ 3,409 3,435
Expense relating to leases of B HAEEENRY
short-term leases 2,428 2,040
Termination of a lease K - (8)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 82 iR KB 5 5,881 5,642
16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. HEIRE
2023 2022
—E2-= —ZE-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETTT
As at 1 January R—H—H 495,144 675,201
Additions NE 76,277 205,418
Transferred to property, plant and AW - BB R (HFE14)
equipment (note 14) (213,315) (384,988)
Disposals TE (1,208) (487)
As at 31 December WN+—A=+—H 356,898 495,144
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17. GOODWILL 17. P&
RMB’000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022: RZEBE-_—_F—HF—HBK
—ECHFFZA=+—8:
Cost AN 241,158
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE -
Net carrying amount REFE 241,158
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment MN-_ZT-=F—F—H Z KA
HUR REHRER)FE 241,158
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 KRB _=F+_A=+—H
Z PR K BREFE 241,158
At 31 December 2023: R-FB-=F+_"HA=+—8:
Cost DEN 241,158
Accumulated impairment 2FEE =
Net carrying amount BREFE 241,158

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AS OF 31 DECEMBER
2023

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Fujian Dawnrays unit) as

the cash-generating unit for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the Fujian Dawnrays unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections was 17% (2022: 17%) and the cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a terminal
growth rate of 2.3% (2022: 2.3%), which was the same as the long

term average growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

BlLE-Z2_=f+-A=+—-BHNEERER
=
BREBEHESNHESLERERHBLEE
ERAR (RERIGEM) (FEREEEBLETT
AR -

8 22 R I B 7 /O P] Uk [B] & BB R AR IR FA (B (B AT
BAETE & EARER SR EEEATIE
HMERFHNIHEEREARS REEA
H EARBESRERAMNMEERAE17%(Z
T—F:17%) MAFHUENRESRE
EH2.3% (ZTZZF : 2.3%) KA ERE
HE - IS REERSITEN R FIERE
EIEE
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17. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 17. B2 (&)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AS OF 31 DECEMBER
2023 (Cont’d)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Fujian
Dawnrays unit for 31 December 2023. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow

projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Revenue —The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue is
based on the management’s expectation of the future sales of drugs.
The compound growth rate of revenue was estimated based on
information available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment. Such
information includes current industry overview and estimated market

development.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the three years immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected

market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of finished drugs and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The management of the Group assessed that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the Fujian Dawnrays unit to exceed its respective
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023.
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BLE-Z2-_=F+-A=+—-BHNEEREER
= (%)

E-_ZF_=Ft-_A=1— EW@E%VWM
MEREEHEPEATERR - U TR T
BEENERSRERAETHERERNTA
SERES R -

KA — AREERERANEREIEEEY
%X@m%ﬁm%% WAM@AﬁE AR
IREHER AT RGHER MR - TEEEERT
ERENES - ELESBEERHNITERRM
EFRTRI TS EE ©

BEEMNZ — HEERNXZENEEEEF
EZRM=FNFHEMNEX - fl AERHHREK
REMBERTEBERMAMES -

MEFE — ERANMBAXERAA - IFHRER
TEBHEMABNSERR -

P BE T 35 3% e I BHIR K BV RR S R AR P A R (E 2R
SMNERE R RIR— X ©

AEBEREN G ERZSERIVEMSIE
AR T EEREERKEMR _T_=
F+Z A=+ HNEREESNE A EIKREHE -
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HittBEEE
2023 2022
Sl S 3
Deferred Deferred
development Patent and Customer development Patent and Customer
costs* licence Software  relationship Total costs” licence Software relationship Total
BERRAA  BRANY o BFEE g EERERAL  EAREW af EPHE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTn  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
Cost: A
Asat 1 January ®-A-A 192,240 127,201 18,224 2173 361,838 195,723 102,794 17,870 2173 340,560
Addttions AE 12171 - 24 - 12,461 18,324 2,600 379 - 21303
Disposals i} (6,697) - - - (6,697) = = (29) - (29)
Transfers £ (69,722) 69,722 - - - (21,807) 21807 - - -
As at 31 December Rt=A=+-A 127,998 196,923 18,508 2173 367,602 192,240 127,201 18,224 24173 361,838
Accumulated amortisation and ZiTRSRAE:
impairment:
Asat 1 January ®-A-A 6,607 46,396 4,855 8,863 66,811 6,697 37,544 2,860 6,446 53,547
Amortisation provided during the year ~ ERE - 14117 2,047 2417 19,181 - 8852 2,020 2417 13,289
Disposals e (6,697) - - - (6,697) - - 29) - (25)
As at 31 December Wt=B=t-R - 61,113 6,902 11,280 79,205 6,697 46,396 4,856 8,863 66,811
Net ook value: HRERE:
As at 31 December i s = ! 127,998 135,810 11,606 12,893 268,307 185,543 80,805 13,369 15,310 205,027
Asat 1 January ®-A-A 185,543 80,805 13,369 15,310 205,027 189,026 65,250 16,010 7 287,013

The deferred development costs include in-process research and

development projects of RMB127,998,000 (2022: RMB185,543,000).
These projects are not yet ready for use and are assessed to have

indefinite useful lives.

MR-ZB-—=F+—-A=+—8 ' ELEMAZEXAL
AR#127,998000 L (ZFE==F : AR
185,543,000 7T) ° #ZEIE B MoK O] ({52 A I 4

AT A Tl 52 P HR AR
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—EEEATZRE
2023 2022
== ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Share of net assets EIEFEE (79,792) (38,859)
Goodwill on acquisition by B R A 64,204 64,204
Subtotal INat (15,588) 25,345
Loans to an associate =&/ Qi i1): i /NG] 122,045 51,825
Total B 106,457 77,170
Particulars of the material associate as at 31 December 2023 are as R-EBE-_=F+-"A=+—HEXEHLERFZ
follows: BT
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
registration attributable
Name and business to the Group Principal activities
rEERGHESRE
=8 S, B T R A i B EmEsE FEER
AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.  Chinese Mainland 35 Research and development of

biotechnology and
bio-pharmaceutical products

FERRT (ER)BEBRAR PEKE AT Ko A W) R B BT R
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19.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

Dawnrays Biotechnology, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
and Akeso Biopharma Co., Ltd. (“Akeso Biopharma”) entered into an
agreement to establish a joint venture, AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
(“AD Pharmaceuticals”), to co-develop innovative therapies. The total
investment amount injected to AD Pharmaceuticals was
RMB343,470,000, RMB185,000,000 of which shall be subscribed
by Dawnrays Biotechnology. Dawnrays Biotechnology injected
RMB185,000,000 capital from 2017 to 2021.

In April and May 2021,
unsecured interest-bearing loans to AD Pharmaceuticals. The total
amount of the loan is RMB84,000,000 with an interest rate of 3.5%
per annum for a term of five years. An amount of RMB35,000,000 of

Dawnrays Biotechnology provided an

the loan has been repaid in October 2021. In January and February
2023, Dawnrays Biotechnology provided an unsecured interest-
bearing loans to AD Pharmaceuticals. The total amount of the loan is
RMB66,500,000 with an interest rate of 3.5% per annum for a term

of five years. The loan to an associate is unsecured.

The purpose of the loan is to finance the business operation and
clinical development of AD Pharmaceuticals. The carrying amount of
the loan also includes accrued interest due from AD
Pharmaceuticals.

As at 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the directors, these loans
are unlikely to be repaid in the foreseeable future and are considered
as part of the Group’s net investment in the associate. There was no
recent history of default and past due amounts for the loans to an
associate. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowances
were assessed to be RMB15,588,000 and nil, respectively.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

R—EBE AR ZRE (&)
AEBZEWBARIRIGEMRF ILESED
BagR AR ([RIWLERF ]I A &R RK
VEERRERMRES (BR)EBEEGRAR([E
BhER T ) AR B AIFTEE - EERBES
R 4R3% & 58 B A R 343,470,000 + HA A
R # 185,000,000 7T 14 & FA R I A V3R B o &R
WEMR T —LtFE T _—FHAEERA
R # 185,000,000 7T °

R-Z-_—FNAKRAA  RisEMHERR
FRE—"SFEEBEHRAEEREARE
84,000,0007T * FF|FEH3.5%  EFHARF -

AR# 35,000,000 tEHRER=E=—F1+A
BE RZTEZ=F—AK=A RL4E¥M
RRRIRH—FEEERFLEREARYE
66,500,000 7T * FF|FEH3.5%  ERHARF -

M HE & A Rl A B R IR o

EXMENRATAERRTNEREL LR
RIEHES - ERNREET2EERRTT A
REJFRIRFIE -

RZB_=F+_HA=+—H EFRR " %

FEFRTARAGLEARRORARGEE XK
BRAAEEHBERRFREN—&0 BT

o UNETN= N 3 e OERE > YN B IR ik I
HE_TZ-_=FR-_F-__FF+_A=+—
H OTREONBREHESNAARE
15,588,000 7L R Z T °
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in

19.

respect of AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences

in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

financial statements:

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in
the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

Group’s share of net assets of the
associate, excluding goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition

Carrying amount of the investment

Revenue
LLoss for the year

MBEE
FRBEE
mEAE
FRBAE

FEE

EAKERZHE AR
el

AEEGEEELA

SEREBMERRFEE
(TREFE)

Y B By ey 7

REMREE

WA
REEER
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19.

R—EBE R T 2RE (4

TRIVRIE BRI =R N AR R
BHREAANREESRNERRD (BR)BEE

BRARME IS ERHEE
2023 2022
—E_-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
156,649 122,359
495,770 480,519
(179,246) (243,186)
(701,149) (470,716)
(227,976) (111,024)
35% 35%
(79,792) (38,859)
64,204 64,204
(15,588) 25,345
41,302 34,337
(116,952) (176,871)




20.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

Less: Provision

Total

R
&M
LR am

Notes to Financial Statements
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20. &
2023 2022
—E-= =T

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETTT
116,540 115,199
35,496 73,116
70,258 59,436
222,294 247,751
(11,187) (6,005)
211,107 241,746
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21.

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FEWE 5 5IA
Notes receivable FEU =S TR
Impairment BIE

Net carrying amount BREFE

Notes:

)

164 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ZEEs84%5 (1258 ) HRR A 7

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally three months for major
customers. Each customer has a credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to manage credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade and notes receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

Trade receivables FEULE 5508

Qutstanding balances with ages:

Within 90 days 0 HA

Between 91 and 180 days 91 £180H

Between 181 and 270 days 181 £ 270 H

Between 271 and 360 days 2712360 H

Over one year —F A
Total BE

AR &) 0 B 1 RERER -

21.

Notes
P5E

BWEZ kEERIA

2023 2022

—E-= —E-_4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
155,967 211,724

169,611 194,022

325,578 405,746

(3,582) (2,896)

321,996 402,850

BRIEF —MEEMRBEI  AEBEERE

EXZRERPRS  -MEBREFPEEH—RA
=@A - BUBFFHREEERE - NEEEK
HERERERRWTUR - YREEHEEER
FEBEERR - 2REREESEHRNE
HIRGR - ZE A BRI & B BT AN B R R U E
SRBPRABETRAES Bt EsEES
MEERR - BRE S EEEFIANEFE

HRBERIREEREY - RIREHRNE
WE ZFIRNREDITAAT -

2023 2022
—E-= T _F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
125,049 192,630
18,180 10,075
5,801 3,250
2,531 1,741

824 1,132
152,385 208,828




21. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

U

(i)

(Cont’d)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year F9
Impairment losses (note 7) SREE S (KFE7)
At end of year FR

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied the simplified approach
to provide impairment for ECLs prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
below also incorporate forward-looking information. The impairment is
determined as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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21. EWEZREER

5 (%)

BiaE © (&)

0

Expected credit loss rate TBHEEBAR
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) REmSHE(ARETIT)
Impairment (RMB’000) BEARETT)

Notes receivable are held with a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling as the Group
sometimes endorses notes receivable to suppliers prior to their expiry
date. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Notes receivable are
subject to impairment under the general approach. The Group
estimated that the expected credit loss rate for notes receivable was
minimal.

(i)

(%)

FEWE SR MERKSEE T

2023 2022
—EC-=F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

2,896 461

686 2,435

3,582 2,896

7R 280 5 e X R O B WUSR IR T B K 85 B
BENEENAETRAEFHR -

BE-Z-/\F—HA—Hi  AEEERHA
LI AR B B 75 5 2R 156 9 SR AR TE Y
HHEEBIRRRE  AFRRAAR
WEBSHRAENBEFERANRRELS
B BRAER - R EBRMEEEE
FEW B 5 A RIBHE & 5 AR B
BHREGETOME c UTHEHEEBRE
BEREEES - BERRIT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
2.30% 1.37%
155,967 211,724
3,582 2,896

FEW B AN AR E A &£ 2 5 B AT
HEERMHER BEERSRURERNE
BHEABAERE DR RER BRI
HEREBR ZEHEREBEMEER
smIARTEIIRZEH T EETOERE
B BERBR-RAARE-  AEE G
SRS RENAME SRR EMEE -
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TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

(Cont’d)

Financial assets that are not derecognised in their entiret

As at 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain notes receivable
accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Notes”) with a carrying
amount of RMB54,556,000 (2022: RMB69,974,000) to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the
“Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained
the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to
such Endorsed Notes, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the
full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Notes and the associated trade
payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group does not
retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes to any other third parties. The
aggregate carrying amounts of the trade payables and other payables
settled by the Endorsed Notes during the year to which the suppliers
have recourse were RMB33,426,000 (2022: RMB44,570,000) and
RMB21,130,000 (2022: RMB25,404,000) as at 31 December 2023,
respectively.

Financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2023 the Group discounted certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Discounted Notes”)
with a carrying amount of RMB15,060,000 (2022: RMB6,434,000). In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained the substantial
risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to such
Discounted Notes, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of the Discounted Notes and the associated short-
term borrowings. Subsequent to the discounting, the Group does not
retain any rights on the use of the Discounted Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Discounted Notes to any other third parties.
The aggregate carrying amount of short-term borrowings arising from
the Discounted Notes was RMB15,060,000 as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group discounted certain note
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised Notes”)
with a carrying amount of RMB62,434,000 (2022: RMB63,126,000). In
the opinion of the directors, the risk of the Group being claimed by the
holders of the Derecognised Notes is remote in the absence of a
default of the accepted banks. The Group has not retained the
substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to
such Derecognised Notes. The Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Notes. Accordingly, it
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Notes.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s continuing
involvement in the Derecognised Notes and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Notes is equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Notes are not
significant.
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

Current B

Prepayments FE R

Deposits and other receivables R & E At fE W RIE
Total HmE

Non-current IERE

Prepayment for purchase of buildings BEEFREIR

As at 31 December 2023, other receivables of the Group were
considered to be of low credit risk and thus the Group has assessed
that the ECL for other receivables was immaterial under the
12-month expected loss method and no impairment provision is
required.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at
31 December 2023 and 2022 the loss allowance was assessed to

be minimal.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

22. TAN - e BWRER HWEE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —=F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
13,397 14,985
106,999 88,797
120,396 103,782
7,564 7,564

RIBZ=F+-A=+—H AEENEM
ERFBRESEERRRE  URAKED
Al E A R YGRIE R 12 A A TR EE BB 18

YRER - HEFREREE -

EREERBBHRWERE - LAEHRERE
Z A B BT B R KO St A FA IR Y
FEWHRBEBEE R_F_=FM_F_—
T-A=1+—8  ERBERIEREBE -
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 23. UAREFEEES T ABR 2
OR LOSS BE
2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR® TR ARETT
Current E
Listed equity investments, at fair value R E - A R(E 0] 10,333 10,500
Other unlisted investments, at fair value E A EHRE  RALE (ii) 150,538 170,857
Total e 160,871 181,357
Non-current IESRE
Other unlisted equity investments, H b 3E FHIRERE
at fair value BARE (iii) 20,000 =
Notes: 5k
(i) Listed equity investments represented the Group’s investments in [0) IR EREEASERAR LM AR

public listed companies, which are quoted in an active market. The fair

(i)

(i)
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value of the listed equity investments is based on their quoted prices
as of 31 December 2023 in an active market.

The above listed equity investments at 31 December 2023 were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments at 31 December 2023 were floating
interest rate principal-preservation type of wealth management
products. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest. The fair value of the wealth
management products is based on the bank’s quoted expected
returns.

Other unlisted equity investments represented the Group’s investments
in an unlisted company. The unlisted equity investments at 31
December 2023 were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.

JERRA]

(i

(i)

g HEGERMSHRE - LREREZR
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and cash in banks Be RIBTER
Short-term deposits AR
Subtotal INET

Less: Time deposit with maturity over
three months TE BRF 5K

RekReEHEY

Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances and short-
term deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB669,599,000 (2022: RMB755,426,000) in Chinese Mainland.
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks (including the restricted bank deposits and time
deposits with maturity over three months) earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash

equivalents approximate to their fair values.

BB =EAN
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RERBITHEK

2023 2022
—ZE_-= —E-_4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T
156,744 246,387
749,082 565,295
905,826 811,682
539,000 400,000
366,826 411,682

MNZZE-=F+_FA=+—8 KEERFEH
REBREABAREHIER G RTINS H
T4 E AR 669,599,000 L (ZF = =4 :
AR 755,426,0007T) © AR TNA] A HH
MBHME - AT - ARIR A B K fE S GE B
ERRAEE  SEANMESEESR AEEE
B BT RT T INE TSR RIT IS A R M IR
BEAMEH o

RITFR(BEZBHRTEFRARIGAER
=EANEREFR) WO BEREHRITHER
A R 5 By A R BRER o 72 H17E BT SR HARR SR F
—RE=EATE  BFAKENREF KM
TE I PARE FE B %2 HA TE BATE SN R BRER A B, o
RITEREFALILEIRER  EERY
BIRTTH - REMREEE YN FEmMERTE

AR
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25. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables and notes payable as at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

Outstanding balances with ages: AR E] D HY M R EREE -
Within 90 days 90HA
Between 91 and 180 days 91£180H
Between 181 and 270 days 1812270 H
Between 271 and 360 days 2712360 H
Over one year —F
Total B

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 90-day terms. During the year ended 31 December, the
aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the
Endorsed Notes to which the suppliers have recourse was
RMB33,426,000 (note 21).
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25. ENEZREERE
RREHRNENE S RENEBEZTIBRER D
M :

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T
98,076 169,248
63,110 54,128
459 571

357 83

159 43
162,161 224,073

FET B 5 R IB T 8 R — iR+ B RER
Mg - REE+-_A=+—BILtFEE &8
EEERINCHERNEEER I ENESK
2 HRBRE{E A A R 33,426,000 7T (FiizE21) ©
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HitFEENRRFERE A
2023 2022
—E-= —F__F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR® TR ARET T
Contract liabilities BHBE (i 17,896 29,658
Refund liabilities B BE 12,750 13,472
Accruals ERRE R 96,905 152,463
Taxes other than corporate income tax R 2EFTS T SMNH T IE 11,366 18,818
Payable for purchases of machinery FTIE RS R BT ER K
and construction of buildings 152,046 271,373
Other payables H A FE A5 3K (il 50,166 30,284
Total FEE 341,129 516,068
Notes: 5k
(i) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: 0] BHBEFENOT
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=F T
+=RA=+-8 +t=ZA=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Short-term advances received from customers £ & F Y E a9 52 BB (150
Sales of goods HiEE 17,153 29,058
Rendering of pilot test services e s BBl S AR 7% 743 600
Total FEE 2 17,896 29,658
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver EHaBEREREER REHARARRLS
pharmaceutical products and render pilot test services. EHATEIER o
(i) ~ Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average (ii) A A FR T AT F S &?i’]iﬂ”ﬁﬁﬁ’j/\ﬂﬁl
settlement term of six months. During the year ended 31 December, B -REBET-A=1T—HILFE EBE
the aggregate carrying amount of other payables settled by the ERI N HERRERE M ENS Zﬁ@
Endorsed Notes to which the suppliers have recourse was IREEA AR 21,130,000 7T (FfsE21) °

RMB21,130,000 (note 21).
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27.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. FTERITREMEE
2023
—E-=
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity
BEEFI=E (%) BHA
Current S Hy
Bank loans — secured EEARITER (@) 1.10-1.65 2024
Bank loans — unsecured ERORITER 3.90 2024
Bank loans — unsecured EFEFRORITER 2.60 2024
Total-current ySREEEY
2022
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity
B FZE (%) EIER R
Current 55 HA
Bank loans — secured BHEFHIRITENK 1.10-1.55 2023
Total-current o HRMA
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Equivalent
&&=
RMB’000
ARBT R

15,060
5,000
100,000

120,060

Equivalent
E2E]
RMB’000
AREFTT

6,434

6,434




27.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following
currencies:

RMB AR

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of interest
rate is as follows:

Fixed interest rate TE A

Note:

(@) As at 31 December 2023 the Group discounted certain notes
receivable accepted by certain banks in the PRC with a carrying
amount of RMB15,060,000 and recorded the received payments from
these banks as short-term borrowings secured by the discounted
notes receivable because the directors of the Company assessed that
the Group continued to retain the substantial risks and rewards of the
discounted notes receivable.

As at 31 December 2023 the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB1,270,000,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB1,370,000,000), of which the bank facilities of RMB106,725,744
(81 December 2022: RMB140,202,073) had been utilised.

Notes to Financial Statements

27.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

STERITREMEER (&)

& HORE S A T 5

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
120,060 6,434

BN EEAE| D E KRR BT

2023 2022
—=E_-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETIT
120,060 6,434

@ R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—8 ' 4c%£H
EMIRETRAALNEREEEERE
A AR 15,060,000 7T ¢+ A7 LA BE IR A9 fE
WEBRAIE R ERIEE B WIRIT 2 SRIB1E
AEBER  BRAAREETEZERE
WERIR AN B R AR BB AN E 5 -

MN-Z-—=F+=-F=+—0  AEEMNRTT
EEAEH ARKA1,270,000000L(R=ZF
—ZF+=ZA=+—H : AR¥1,370,000,000
JT) r R ARB106,725,744 E(R T = —
F+ZA=+—H: AR 140,202,073 L) iR
TEEBEEEWRER -
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28. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 28. BUFHEEFR

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T
At 1 January w—HA—H 300 600
Recognised as income FTALREERE (300) (300)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 300
Government grants include subsidies from the PRC government BT B 3B 35 2R B HR B BT P9 A A R 5 AN
which are specifically for the capital expenditure incurred for plant BREANBEARBESIHEE  WEBEERERSE
and machinery, which is recognised as income over the useful life of EANRER AU A - IR A HiE LB Z AR A R m

the related assets. There are no unfulfilled conditions or Bk BEE o

contingencies relating to these grants.
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29. DEFERRED TAX

Notes to Financial Statements

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

At 1 January 2022

Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 11)

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year
(note 11)

At 31 December 2023

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

29. IEIEFIIE
FRNECHBEERBBEZ2EHUT ¢
EERBEE
Accrued Government
expenses grants Provisions Total
ERER BB B ag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL AREFTL AREFTL ARETT
R-Z-—#-fA-AR 1,820 45 3,884 5,749
FRRGABER
(30%),/EAZ
EERA (1) 501 (22) 632 1,111
WZE-_—F+-A=1—H 2,321 23 4516 6,860
W_E-—#+-A=+-H
k=E-=%-8-H 2,321 23 4516 6,860
FERRGABER (R),/FA
ZIEERE (i 11)
(408) 15,769 (3.244) 12,117
W-E-=#+-A=+-H 1,913 15,792 1,272 18,977

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB127,271,000 (2022: RMB69,292,000) that will expire in one to
five years and tax losses arising from the Company and its Hong
Kong subsidiaries of RMB230,217,000 (2022: RMB212,087,000) for

offsetting against future taxable profits for which no deferred tax

assets have been recognised, as they have arisen in subsidiaries that

have been loss-making for some time and it is uncertain that taxable

profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

AEERFPBEAESZSHEEEARKE
127,271,0007c( = T = = F: AR &
69,292,0007) * Al BIEEER —ZERAFA
EIJ%%%%EW‘@E%%;&%U " RAR R REEEH
A RISRSBIIEE B A R ¥ 230,217,000 7T (=
T;::i : AR# 212,087,000 7T ) A F{EHK 5
RRERTEA - BZFEIEE @RERE
BERAER BARRRELEEBEER K
KEAMBAR  THRERSEH ERT T
AAREEZEREEE -
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d) 29. IEFERIIE (78)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES EEHIEEE
Fair value

Fair value adjustments Depreciation

adjustments of financial allowance
arising from  assets at fair in excess
acquisition of  value through of related Withholding
subsidiaries profit or loss depreciation taxes Total
UA R E
FEERSE

WL R AREZ
BN MBAEN nERHE
DAERR LAfERE  BEMBAE L “E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR AEBTR AEBTL ARBTT

At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—F—H 11,964 4,318 4 50,585 66,871
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to FARNGABRR

the consolidated statement of GtA)/f1kz

profit or loss during the year EERIE (5 11)

(note 11) (829) (4,189) 13,272 14,850 23,104
At 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-—#+-A=1-H

1 January 2023 R=ZE-_=F—F—H 11,135 129 13,276 65,435 89,975
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to FRARGEERZR

the consolidated statement of GtA)/f1kz

profit or loss during the year ELFE (T 11)

(note 11) (1,821) (48) 217 6,059 4,407
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+-fA=+—H 9,314 81 13,493 71,494 94,382
The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by BE-ZEZNF—F—Hi# AEEEZREF
those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of A B AR 7 B B BB /A B BT S AR A 2 1) i 9 B B B
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% BRITHBENTNERS - NEEAEAR X
for the Group. #5% °
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30. OTHER LIABILITIES

31.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

30. HEE

2023
—g=-=

RMB’000
ARBT R

s f,

Government relocation compensation received  BUfT I8 (8 5% -

The government relocation compensation consisted of compensation
received in prior years under the relocation compensation agreement
entered into between the People’s Government of Wuzhong

Economic Development District, Suzhou City and Suzhou Dawnrays

2022
—E-_4F
RMB’000
ARET T

174,824

BB ER

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL
SHARES

Authorised:

20,000,000,000 (2022: 20,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.05
(2022: HK$0.05) each

Issued and fully paid:
1,500,247,000 (2022: 1,498,789,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.05
(2022: HK$0.05) each

Equivalent to RMB’000

BURT IR B 6 B SR B FEAR R AR N T 5= o 48 7 5 3%
BARBFERNEERE FRBEHMNRIGRE
BRARFF OB MERZRER NARFRER

31. BXK
B’
2023 2022
—EC=fF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BEET T
JERE
20,000,000,000 & (=== —
20,000,000,000 f%) ZAEEE
B0 (ZE ==
¥ 0.05 70) KB A% 1,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRER
1,500,247,000f% (= ZE ==
1,498,789,000 i% ) ER% B
B0 (ZE -
B#0.05 ) M E AR 75,012 74,940
SEARETT 80,455 80,389
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31.

32.

R-BE_=%+-_HA=+—H
SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
SHARES (Cont’d)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023
Share options exercised

RZE_—_F+-_A=+—H
r—FE-_=F—H—H

BT R B

At 31 December 2023 N-ZE-_=F+-_HA=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2013 (the “2013

Share Option Scheme”). The 2013 Share Option Scheme became

effective on 21 June 2013 and was terminated at the annual general
meeting on 25 May 2023.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible person in the 2013 Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

On 25 May 2023, the shareholders of the Company approved
termination of the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the adoption of a
new share option scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”). The
2023 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from
adoption date until 24 May 20383.
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31. BA (&)
R (%)
RRABRENEBGZSAT
Number of Issued
shares in issue capital Total
ERITROHE 2BITRA FEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BB T T
1,498,789,000 74,940 74,940
1,458,000 72 72
1,500,247,000 75,012 75,012

32.

AR REETE
RABRZE—=FEHEMANEREFEI((=F
—=BREED  —T—=BERE AN
T—=FANAt+—HAERIR=_T==FA
AZ+hBRRBERSWEIL -

EEMI2EAMEAR T —F— =B ETE
MEBUAER2EENBRENT THITRS
RIDEE - ARR RIREAT RS fE B B BT
1% R o FLE— TR BRI RBNBERE -
AHERRAE EERRAE -

BRYARRES R EBRRAWEEM
B BREAERDUS B IFNITESH
HE o BN - IAFME(RT 1218 A BRI T AR B E
BIR I L IFAITEF IR S ETAIRERE T Y
EAAIEE IR BE AR B PMEA R H A B 17
HE0.1% » KA BBERENREGRIEARR
MRy PR BB AR B B T (E AR ET B B8
B¥sEET  AAFAERRARE LBEK
RHLAE -

ARBIRER—ZE_=FRA-_+HHHAR
I =% — = AR A B R IR AN B AR 4
(=T =R 8 ) - == =M
BEERARETFRARBEERE-B==4
AA-+mMAH -



32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

The 2023 Share Option Scheme mandate limit is the total number of
shares which may be issued in respect of all options and share
awards to be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, share
award scheme (if any) and any other share option scheme of the
Company (if any), and shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue on the adoption date of 2023 Share
Option Scheme. The service provider sublimit, being a sublimit under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme mandate limit, is the total number of
shares which may be issued in respect of all options and share
awards to be granted to the service providers under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, share award scheme (if any) and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any), and shall not in aggregate
exceed 0.5% of the total number of shares in issue on the adoption
date of 2023 Share Option Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$10 by each grantee with no other consideration being payable
by the grantee. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
commencing on such date on or after the date on which the option
is granted as the Board may determine in granting the option and
expiring at the close of business on such date as the Board may
determine in granting the option but in any event shall not exceed 10
years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer, provided that the exercise price shall not be less
than the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have a
past practice of cash settlement for these share options. The Group
accounts for the share option scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to

vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No option was granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and
2028 Share Option Scheme during the year.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

during the year:

At 1 January R—H—H
Granted during the year FREHEE
Exercised during the year FRBITE

Lapsed/forfeited during the year ~ ERIE Skik, /38

At 31 December wmt+=—A=+—8~

32.
2023
—E-=F
Weighted
average Number
exercise price of options
T
THE BREZA
HK$ ’000
per share
BEER
1.349 55,192
0.900 (1,458)
1.680 (15,140)
1.236 38,594

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023

Number of options

BRERA
’000

6,612
9,900
8,082
3,000
11,000

38,594

Exercise price*

TRE

HKS$ per share

BEER

1.500
1.380
0.900
1.470
1.134
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2022
B F

Weighted
average Number
exercise price of options

INHEF

THEE FERESE

HK$ ‘000

per share

BEER
1.461 91,824
1.134 12,000
0.900 (452)
1.513 (48,180)

1.349 55,192

RI|EIR - RITENBRETEERITED

M :

Exercise period

TESE

09-01-2020 to 08-01-2025%
28-08-2020 to 27-08-2025"
26-08-2021 to 25-08-2026"

31-03-2022 to 30-03-2027
29-04-2023 to 28-04-2028"
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) 32. HEMREESTEI(E)
2022 —E-_F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RSB 1THEE 1T EAR
’000 HKS$ per share
BEGR
7,600 2.125 29-11-2018 to 28-11-2023"
8,312 1.500 09-01-2020 to 08-01-2025
12,500 1.380 28-08-2020 to 27-08-2025
11,780 0.900 26-08-2021 to 25-08-2026
3,000 1.470 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2027
12,000 1.134 29-04-2023 to 28-04-2028
55,192
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the * MHHETT HERR Bk BE T AT AR S AR A RIAR AN HH 2R Eo Ath
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the KOS - BRI TREEB AT AR -

Company’s share capital.
# 6,300,000 share options were expired and lapsed in 2023. # 6,300,000 FEAR R =T = = F R HR R KR -

& 8,840,000 share options were forfeited and lapsed in 2023. A 8,840,000 BE IS HEN — T — = 438U Jo 263 o
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33. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(I CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the then consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation as set out in
note 1, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued

in exchange therefor.

(I) STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE (THE “SSR”)

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries,
each of the Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries is required to
allocate 10% of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC generally accepted accounting principles, to the
SSR until this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.
Part of the SSR may be converted to increase the paid-up
capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

(Il) EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION RESERVE
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial

statements of foreign subsidiaries.

(IvV) SHARE OPTION RESERVE
The share option reserve of the Group represents the share-
based payments reserve in respect of equity-settled share
option arrangements.

(V) CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the
shares repurchased.
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Financial assets

Trade and notes receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loan to an associate

(Cash and bank balances

Total

Financial liabilities

Notes to Financial Statements
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Trade and notes payables

Derivative financial instruments

Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals (Note 26)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Total

FEfTE 5 R EBFIA
ERITETA

FRAERMENRKEIBRERZ

f75 B & (M 26)
AHRRITEEMEE
HEAE

(S

amortised cost

34. BEHEDZERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial HERSHR  SESRIAMNERENDT !
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
HHEE 2023 2022
k- St St
Financial Financial Financial
Financial assets assefs assets
assets Financial at fair value at fair value Financial atfair value
at fair value assetsat  through other through assetsat  through other
through profit amortised  comprehensive profit amortised  comprehensive
or loss cost income Total orloss cost income Total
NAREHE NAREHE WAL EHE KON ETE
BHEE hEE  REEHIA BEES hEE  BEEEHA
tAmN2 AR ERSENE HABE AR EbeEha
BBEE ZHBEE ZHHEE L] HBEE LHBEE LHTEE &4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARETTR AEETR AEETR AEETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
WG S REEE - 152,385 169,611 321,996 - 208,828 194,022 402,850
AR - AtERGER
AthBEZBEE - 106,999 - 106,999 - 88,797 - 88,797
NAREEREZHHA
ERZHREAE 180,871 - - 180,871 181,357 - - 181,357
ERT-HBeans - 106,457 - 106,457 - 51,825 - 51,805
RERFTHH - 905,826 - 905,826 - 811,682 - 811,682
B 180,871 1,271,667 169,611 1,622,149 181,357 1,161,132 194,022 1,536,511
MKBEE 2023 2022
—E-= —_ZF_—
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost

BRBERACTE  REENATE
ZHBEE ZHBRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AREETT
162,161 224,073

- 474

299,117 454,120
120,060 6,434

467 1,978

581,805 687,079
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35. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35. EMIAZAAREER

INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and notes receivables, trade and notes payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, loans to an associate, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with

the directors of the Company periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all required significant inputs to fair value of an instrument are
observable, the instruments are included in Level 2. If one or more of
the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the
instruments are included in Level 3.
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35. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. The
Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by
using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market
interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2023:

Notes to Financial Statements
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35. ERTEZAARERERGE)

AEFBRENIFLTRE - KRB EAUIRTT
BITWEMEM - AKEREAA RGN
RO TANTSNEX  RAFRBLREE
BEMEEHE LI ETIREN A EE -

TRIAREESBRTANAREFEER

R-CEB-_=F+ - A=+—HERAAEFEL
BE

Fair value measurement using

BERUTRRETAAENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REETS EAUBE BEATAEE
HREE-R BAEE-R BAEE=R At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT R AR%TR AR®TR
Financial assets at fair value through LA B2 B HE S
profit or loss TABGZHBEE 10,333 150,538 20,000 180,871
Financial assets at fair value through AR EFTEEHSE
other comprehensive income STAEMEENE - 169,611 - 169,611
Total B 10,333 320,149 20,000 350,482

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z==4%413 185



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

35. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022:

Financial assets at fair value through LA/ B2 B HEH)
profit or loss STABRHBEE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAR 7 (Bxt & B H &8
other comprehensive income AR EE KR
Total B

35. ERMTEZAR

BEEHK (&)

R-EBE-——#F+ - A=+—HEAALEFEL
BE

Fair value measurement using
FANTEBETAL B2

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
W& BT BERAER EDNATIE-4:
MEEE—R BAEE=R BAERE=R At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
10,500 170,857 - 181,357
- 194,022 - 194,022
10,500 364,879 - 375,379

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

are based on future cash flows and expected yield rate.

The fair value of unlisted equity investments measured at fair value is

determined using cost method. The directors of the Company

consider that the fair value approximate to its investment cost as the

investment was made close to the year-end.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1

and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and notes

receivables, amounts due from related parties, trade and notes

payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables

and other assets, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease

liabilities and financial liabilities included in other payables and

accruals approximate to their fair values.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its

operations.

The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have any significant investment outside of
Chinese Mainland. However, the Group has transactional currency
exposures. These exposures arise from sales of the Group’s
subsidiaries denominated in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. Approximately 1.45% of the Group’s sales for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 4.61%) were denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the subsidiaries.
Upon receipt of currencies other than the functional currency, the
subsidiaries sell them to banks at a suitable time.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

2023 —TC=F

If RMB strengthens against the US$ MARBHETAHE
If RMB weakens against the US$ fig N R T (B
2022 —F_—

If RMB strengthens against the US$ AR K ETTHE
If RMB weakens against the US$ fit N R 2 TR (B
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R=F=_=F+=-H=+—H
SREREEERRER

31 December 2023

AEERBREESFTRANENE SHASTH
MEBEWHEEERAE  HIIREKEERE
A o

UTREESRNLRAZER Dt GEERS
BRZHEE »

HMNE RLER

REBRFBAREEAINEEEMERRE - A
i AEEDEHERSEERRE - BRERBR R
BASER P EARENE R R AR g E A
I EEHETZHE BE-_T-_=F1+=A
=T—HLEFE AEBN145%HEE(ZF
ZIF  4.61%) TIARE B R BURFETE A
AT EE B AN 2 B FHE - RIKEIThAEE
KA B 1% - R E R B K RERT B A A
SHEREZEEEE TRITALBAAEEE -

THRIRERA E TR EEEHTE R
T AEE OB BAEFHNEER LR AR
TEEDHEEE (RIS EEREENA
REED) -

Increase/

Change (decrease)

in foreign in profit
currency rate before tax
HBRBL AT % T

SEERSE i ORD)
RMB’000

ARBT T
+5% (1,085)

-5% 1,085

+5% (1,204)

5% 1,204
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POLICIES (Cont’d)

CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivables and balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36.

TREREEBERHEE)

FERRE
AEHEEZEERASNE=FLETIS -
BRASENDBCR  MAERREREHETRS
MEPF BDARBEEZERKFR  HAE
B oS AEBESRHEEREUGRIARER
MIEN  MAKRENERRBRI TEX -

R E R AR

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure TRHEIENAEEEFERR 2 EEERR&
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly SEERR  FEERAHER(RIEEME
HAUEBEBRENKALEALERS) BN
T A=+ —HZFHERESLE -

based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial FrE23|meEE B EELREE -
assets.

As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZB-_=F+=-H=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 R
BHRGEEESE FEBRDEERS
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RER E2MkEY HIRER [ oy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR%T R AR¥T R
Loans to an associate - F- Qi 1) AN 106,457 - - - 106,457
Trade receivables EWE 550E - - - 155,967 155,967
Notes receivable EWEE I8 169,611 - - - 169,611
Cash and bank balances Be MBTER 905,826 - - - 905,826
Financial assets at fair value WA ETE B EES
through profit or loss FABE B BEE 180,871 - - - 180,871
Financial assets included in SEATBNER - EtbEw
prepayments, other FEREMEE L
receivables and other assets % EE 106,999 - - - 106,999
Total e 1,469,764 - - 155,967 1,625,731
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2022

Loan to an associate

Trade receivables

Notes receivable

Cash and bank balances

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other

receivables and other assets

Total

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty. There are no

ERT-RBERT
W E 55

MR I50R

R& RBITHER
AR Bt E B EEH
ATARRHBEE
ATABNR - BfbEK
TAREMEEZ
PHEE

ik
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B R EERR (E)
RZZEZZF+=A=+—H

RZZE—_=F+=A=+—H
36. SRIEMEEEERYE(E)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
RHEEEE FEHRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
S1REER FE2MEER EIER Bl & st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT ARETRT ARETT AR%TR
51,825 - - - 51,825
- - - 211,724 211,724
194,022 - - - 194,022
811,682 - - - 811,682
181,357 - - - 181,357
88,797 - - - 88,797
1,327,683 - - 211,724 1,539,407

significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

HAAEEEEZEZERAREBAENT
=EETRG  MAFEEMER - EHEE
RiEBEF/REHFER - At AEERL
BENEAEHEERR -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. TRIAMEERZERER (E)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
CREDIT RISK EERE

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a
counterparty to meet its contractual obligation. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third party debtors. The carrying
amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and notes receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its

financial assets.

All cash and bank balances were deposited in high-credit-quality
financial institutions without significant credit risk.

The Group has continued the policy to perform an assessment at 31
December 2023, of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering

grouping its other receivables into Stage 1 and Stage 2, as described

below:

Stage 1 — When other receivables are first recognised, the
Group records an allowance based on 12-months
ECLs

Stage2 — When other receivables have shown a significant

increase in credit risk since origination, the Group
records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs

Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these
receivables and follow up on the disputes or amounts overdue, if
any. Management is of the opinion that the risk of default by

counterparties is low.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)

CREDIT RISK (Cont’d)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as of the
reporting date with the risk of default as of the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected
credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The
expected loss allowance provision for these balances was not
material during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the credit rating of other receivables was
graded performing. The Group assessed that the expected credit
losses for these receivables were not material under the 12-month
expected loss method. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables are
disclosed in note 21 and note 22.

Notes to Financial Statements
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36. SREKREEBERESE(E)

FERR (&)
AEBERVGEREERZRENN AR -
REERBRERE HEMARSGEEEXRE
e BFHEEERRESAEEMN Zli’iltt
REENS BN E R R ER 116 HER
HAEY 32 40 =L F 'ﬂEi§E§Fﬁ%%é%iilkﬁfﬁﬂﬂiﬂiﬁi
RO RIS L EHY o

AEBERABCEEERMEREERE
OMAMAREMNBIEERR  BRMBEREE
AIF SRR HERFERRAEEHEREE
SRBERE HE-_T-_=F+-A=+—H
LHFE  ZEERNERBRRESRLTE
* o

NG

R-B_=F+_A=+—H TEEHHEM
FEUGKRIRETERENAR - ARER12E AR
BRETAZFRUGRIENFEREEBEL T
BX BMRBE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—H1Lt
FRIARERBRBERE -

BRAANEE A EWE 5508 & A UG IE A

EXEERBRNE— P EEER I HEBERTE
mRMIEE21 MFIFE22 ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z==4413 191



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-ZE—=%+—-HF=+—H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)
LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring

liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its

financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and

projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of

the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

Lease liabilties HEAE
Interest-bearing bank and HRRITREMEE
other borrowings

Trade and notes payables ENE S REETA
Financial liabilities included in 5t AE B 20K
other payables and accruals ~ TEIRBRZEIBEE

Total @y

36. TREMEERSERHEE)

RBESREE
AEBZEERARTFURDESHETA &
cWTRAGEEEESRT
BN %E E (IEYE 55I8) 1 28 H A K
KAREXBNRPRERE

HHE MR ER

RMEMRAREERBEAORBRNAHEERD
MBAEZBMAMAMT

2023
“E-=F
3to
Less than less than 1to Over

On demand 3months 12 months 5years 5years Total

=EPR
BERX  HR=MEA +=f@A —-Z5f EFHE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tz AR%¥Tx
- 39 329 110 - 478
- 7,194 113,843 - - 121,037
2,741 98,075 61,345 - - 162,161
299,117 - - - - 299,117
301,858 105,308 175,517 110 - 582,793
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Cont’d)

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2023 M-B—=F+—-HF=+—H

36. SREKREEBERESE(E)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Cont’d) FRBESER (&)
2022
—E-F
3to
Less than less than 110 Over

On demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total

ZEIR
BEX  LR=A TZEA —ZhF AFENE 5t

RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RVB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARERTT ARBTR ARMTT ARETR

Lease liabilities HEARE - 501 1,061 468 - 2,030
Derivative financial instruments £ gifT4A T E - 474 - - - 474
Interest-bearing bank and AERTREMER

other borrowings - 6,434 - - - 6,434
Trade and notes payables ENESREEZE 55,032 90,814 78,227 - - 224,073
Financial liabilities included in T A EL B 20 %

other payables and accruals ~ TBIRER A E 454120 = = = = 454,120
Total By 509,152 98,223 79,288 468 = 687,131
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT EXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022.

AEEEREANEE B RRREAEENR
BEERENRAEFBROBEALER  UXEE
EBEREEACBEREE -

AEBESHBLEBERES (L ERHEREEW
HEEHRAR RERFIABRELRER K&

E e TREMNRENRTE  REER
TRESEITHRG - RBEE—T_=F1+=
A=+—BrR-_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HIF
BN BEEEREERBZE - BRRBELE
VE A28 o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes trade
and notes payables, certain other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings (other than convertible bonds),
lease liabilities, less cash and bank balances. The gearing ratios as at

the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Trade and notes payables ENE S ;EERIEA
Other payables and accruals HEmENREIERER
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B4R7T R H & &
Lease liabilities HEBE

Less: Cash and bank balances e RIRITIFE
Net debt AR

Equity attributable to owners of the parent HARHEE AEEER

Capital and net debt EARRFEE

Gearing ratio BB &L=
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36. TREMEERSERHEE)

EXREE (H)
AEERRAEARBELREREENBN - M
BERBRLEEDFABERACHEERINFER
Bz@MAE - FREREENESREEK
B BTEMENKEAERER  FRRITR
HiptEE (ATERESRIN) - HERE @ 10
BRERBITER - RBREPRZEREEL
T

2023 2022
—_E=-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
162,161 224,073
341,129 516,068
120,060 6,434
467 1,978
(905,826) (811,682)
(282,009) (63,129)
2,854,656 2,641,956
2,572,647 2,578,827
(10.96%) (2.45%)




37. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

38.

The major classes of assets classified as held for sale as at 31

December are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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37. FHEZEE

ZHEAWT :

BET-_A=1T—8 BEFHEZEENE

2023 2022
—_E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment Y - B K& - 2,578
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. HrelRERMERMETE
CASH FLOWS
(A) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING A HEETBHELENEESS
ACTIVITIES
2023 —B-=F
Interest-bearing
bank and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FFERITR
Hgg& HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR® TR
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 6,434 1,978
Changes from financing cash flows AR EE) 119,531 (1,555)
Disposal B (6,434) -
Interest expense MEZH 529 44
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-—=F+=—A=+—H 120,060 467
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. FRERETMERMEE (E)

CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

(A) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING (A)

ACTIVITIES (Cont’d)
2022

At 1 January 2022

Changes from financing cash flows
Addition

Disposal

Interest expense

At 31 December 2022

(B) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
The total cash outflow for leases included i

Interest-bearing

HREIBEENEESE (&)

bank and other Lease
borrowings liabilities

STRBRITR
HiEE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT
N—ZE-_——H—H 21,013 2,507
BMER M E 6,434 (439)
NE = 355
EH (21,013) (520)
B - 75
RZEZ—F+=-A=+—H 6,434 1,978

(B) HEZHBEER
n the consolidated

BRESATHERERANBEELR S

statement of cash flows is as follows: IR

2023 2022

—E_= — =g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Within operating activities KRB A 2,428 2,040
Within financing activities REEBA 1,555 439
Total BEy 3,983 2,479
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39. COMMITMENTS

40.

(@  The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: EEFOREEFR =3
Plant and machinery 55 K 23

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2023. The future lease
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are
RMB347,069 due within one year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed in note 19 to the financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R EYREA
Employee share option benefits 8 TREIRERET
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIHR

Total compensation paid to key FETBABME AR

management personnel

Further details of the directors’ and the chief executive officer’s

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

39.

40.

FRIE

(@) MMERRLTEEEBATERANE

2023

—E-=
RMB’000
ARBT R

62,588

2022
e —

—_

RMB’000
ARETT

110,318

b R-F_=F+_A=t—HAKEE

B iR 2 ZAH

4« BT

U HE 2 RR—FRMBEEFEAS

AR HE 347,069 7T ©

BB L RS

B BmRME19MFENR A REMER A
FEEMBTRLENZZERAN

AEBMEEZEEAEMWS ¢
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETF T
7,413 6,500
303 336
225 231
7,941 7,067

EXRBEMEHBERNTERERMES
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41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, on 8
February 2024, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a purchase
agreement with Akeso Biopharma, Akeso Inc. and AD
Pharmaceuticals pursuant to which Dawnrays Biotechnology agreed
to sell and Akeso Biopharma agreed to purchase Dawnrays
Biotechnology’s 35% equity interest in AD Pharmaceuticals at the
purchase price of RMB267,387,281. AD Pharmaceuticals also
agreed to repay the loan and interest accrued up to 8 February
2024.
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41.

WREHBEIE

BRRMERREMMTAEESRIN RT
ZWHFEZANR - FimEmEPILES - RA
EYRERERVR TR R EE R B R
ImE YA B EN AR 267,387,281 0 i &
SRR YR R B R 5 89 35% AREAA R ILEE S
BERRARERSEESE LT _mF =/
BERKRFE o
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42. RNPQTEBEARRER

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RBERRARBNFBRARERAT

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries S IENEI L o 287,036 279,738
Total non-current assets BB EMEE 287,036 279,738
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TARTR - H A REWGRIE R K A& &
other Assets 335 302
Financial assets at fair value through AARERTE B EZEEA
profit or loss B 2 & E 10,333 10,500
Cash and bank balances e KIRTTIE 14,560 1,437
Total current assets MENVE EER 25,228 12,239
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals Ht IR kIERE R 1,208 2,624
Total current liabilities MBI B EERE 1,208 2,624
NET CURRENT ASSETS BREEE 24,020 9,615
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERABAE
LIABILITIES 311,056 289,353
Net assets BEE 311,056 289,353
EQUITY Eam
Issued capital B 3T A 80,455 80,389
Reserves (note 33) s (FsE33) 230,601 208,964
Total equity A 311,056 289,353
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42. RPATEBEAMRR (&)

COMPANY (Cont’d)
Note: P -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARARZFEBBENT
Share Share Capital Exchange
premium  Contributed option redemption  fluctuation Retained
account surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total
EXER B %R E
RDRE BABR BRERE E1] 1] RERA “E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT AR®Tn AR®Tn AR®Tn ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZB-_—_F—f—H 2,521 100,175 19,578 8,106 (62,805) 113,181 180,756
Profit for the year REREMN - - - - - 113,514 113,514
Other comprehensive RNEFEMEEUES
income for the year:
Exchange differences i 5 258 - - - - 18,819 - 18,819
Total comprehensive AER2ENESE
income for the year - - - - 18,819 113,514 132,333
Exercise of share options d e 390 - (62) - - - 328
Shares repurchased and BREYFE RO
cancelled = = = = = = =
Final 2021 dividend declared R —Z = —F KRS = = = = = (79,370) (79,370)
Equity-settled share option PARRIE S 15 0 AR X
arrangements - - (4,910) - - - (4,910)
Lapse of share options KM R - - (3,001) - - 3,001 -
Interim 2022 dividend —E-_FhHiRe - - - - - (20,173) (20,173)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE_—F
1 January 2023 +-A=+—H8kK
—Z-=%—-f—H 2,911 100,175 11,605 8,106 (43,986) 130,153 208,964
Profit for the year REERF - - - - - 132,324 132,324
Other comprehensive AEEHM2EMNE :
income for the year:
Exchange differences i R - - - - 6,304 - 6,304
Total comprehensive AEE RN 25
income for the year - - - - 6,304 132,324 138,628
Exercise of share options TEERE 1,325 - (219) - - - 1,106
Shares repurchased and BEEWHH 2 R
cancelled - - - - - - -
Final 2022 dividend declared Bk —Z = —FREKE - - - - - (96,040) (96,040)
Equity-settled share option ARSI+ B BB AR HE 2
arrangements - - (1,019) - - - (1,019)
Lapse of share options Rz AR AE - - (3,658) - - 3,658 -
Interim 2023 dividend “To=FRERE - - - - - (21,038) (21,038)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F
+-A=+—-H 4,236 100,175 6,709 8,106 (37,682) 149,057 230,601
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42.

43.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Cont’d)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of
the then consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation referred to in note 33(i), over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
issued capital account and the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits

should the related options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 22 March 2024.

Notes to Financial Statements

42.

43.

PR AR BT RE
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RRBMFIRR R ()

ANA B B B ERIN BT 5E 33() Pt i8 AR HR 5
BHMRBHBARERNGEAEEFERE
KARABRBEEEEMBITHARRRGE
EREHD -

BREFREEECRBERNRTERBERENRD
AfE - RE-FEMFRPBHRERME2.4K
MW EFBRA - EEHERBETE
B HBESEEERITRARRENDRE
B NEAEBREDHRBORME - HHE
A ERE A o

B R 3R 3k A L
HHHREAEN _E-_WE=F -+ _A¥E=E
SR IR T
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Five Year Financial Summary

AFHBUE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements, is set out below.

ATARAEERNBERBVRFEZ2EE EER
BERE - WIREEE AMRERIERE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —EF--§ T ZTITFE T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®TT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
RESULTS ¥i5
Revenue WA 1,151,145 1,277,682 1,165,155 1,024,270 950,007
Cost of sales SHERAR (509,626) (504,131) (483,893) (473,625) (414,138)
Gross profit S 641,159 773,551 681,262 550,645 535,869
Other income and gains H A A Wiz 185,771 86,948 135,879 38,426 48,071
Selling and distribution expenses 45 K% 4 & F (147,049) (142,733) (109,030) (54,572) (84,812
Administrative expenses THER (113,206) (122,058) (117,409) (109,224) (97,087)
Research and development costs A 7t & 5 2 B 2K (90,808) (79,478) (67,028) (57,944) (49,651)
Other expenses HfnE& A (20,248) (15,546) (37,292) (12,434) (21,158)
Finance costs HsER (989) 371) (641) (4,828) (5,309)
Share of losses of an associate  fE{5 — &4 A7) 2 518 (40,933) (61,905) (46,418) (18,771) (11,829)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT F 414,057 438,408 439,323 331,298 314,004
Income tax expense BT (91,390) (82,557) (85,160) (66,505) (58,738)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEEHEF 322,667 355,851 354,163 264,793 255,356
Attributable to: A T&IBRES
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZY-DN 326,000 358,057 358,175 268,130 255,430
Non-controlling interests IR R o (3,333) (2,206) (4,012) (3,337) (74)
322,667 355,851 354,163 264,793 255,356
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  &ER&E
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 3,622,659 3,672,643 3,339,558 2,903,735 2,786,387
TOTAL LIABILITIES BafR (763,425)  (1,022,776) (941,697) (720,143) (760,075)
NET ASSETS BEE 2,859,234 2,649,867 2,397,861 2,183,592 2,026,312
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

(i)

from Monday, 20 May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
attend and vote at the 2018 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the appropriate
share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 May 2024 with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Abacus Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

from Thursday, 30 May 2024 to Friday, 31 May 2024, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements to the
proposed final dividend, all transfer of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the appropriate
share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 29 May 2024 with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Abacus
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (i) above, no

transfers of shares will be registered.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 AGM will be held on Friday, 24 May 2024. Details of the 2024

AGM are set out in the notice of AGM with constitutes part of the circular
to Shareholders sent together with this annual report.

Information for Shareholders
H{ERERHBFEER
KABEAR T Y EFERE

ERERNBPELTE

(i) M- _MN&EFRA-+HEHPH)E-ZT-N
FRA-HMNBE(ESHEH) (BREERRR) - &

ERERNBPERTFE UEBTHERLREC
ToMERFRBAFAGURNEG LREZRES
M RERTEABEFE S _MERTRASE
REWNE EREZERN - FIEARRRBKRGD
ERERNBARZELARZERES  AR-ZE

—MFERA+EH(EHR) THFME=
Bl REARBZEBROBLERLRDELIE
HNHERARPNBRBEELTFE WU AS
BERBI6RERSRPL17E -

iy ABAZZE-_WMFRAA=F+HEHD=—-Z=_-/
FRHA=-T—H(EHH) (BEEMK) G
ERERNBPERTFE UETZEERR
BEREREMRERE S D - ABRZHEWEEZ
IRBEREARR B 2R - FTEARRA AR R R
EREERERRZE ﬁa'ﬁm_?_mi
FAZFTAB(EE=) TFE&E=1+2H] -
%ﬁ@ﬂZ%%%@gﬁ%ﬁnﬁﬁﬁﬁm%
BRABMEBFELFE it AEEER
BIGRERSRMPLITE -

BB () &
FERFHE-

(i) BFER HARA A - I T2 PRI (H 1B

ES RN

TR CFERRBFRASHNR T _NFRAA - +X

H(28MH)RT- _7_@¢k%ﬂiﬁ B A
HBEDENBERRBRA - ZBRERAFR—
PREFEEIIR -
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2023 AGM
Announcement of 2023 interim results
Announcement of 2023 annual results
2024 AGM

DIVIDENDS

2028 Interim dividend
Payment date for 2023 interim dividend

Proposed 2023 final dividend

Ex-dividend date for 2023 final dividend

Book closing dates for 2023 final dividend

Payment date for proposed 2023 final
dividend

204 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED BESSUZ% (4R%) B R A 7]

25 May 2023
25 August 2023
22 March 2024
24 May 2024

HK$0.015per share
5 October 2023

HK$0.065 per share

28 May 2024

30 May 2024-31 May 2024

on or about 12 June 2024

B35 B S

—ECFRRAFAE
AT =FPHEE
DT =F2FRE
“RONERRBEFAE

IRE

ZEC=FRERS
—EFRHRE
=R
BERRE_T-=F
REARR B,
TEC=FRERE
GSN=E:
TEC=FRERE
BLAP A
BRER¥Es _T-=F
REARR BIRAT A HA

—Z-=FRA=-+HA
ZEZ=FN\AZ+HH
—E-mE=A=+=H
—E-NFERA-FMA

BRE0.0157T
—E-=F+AEH

BB 0.065 7T
—E-MERA=-+NH
ﬂﬂ:+_E|

—E-NFERA+H
AR
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Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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268 Minfeng Road, Wuzhong Economic Development District, Suzhou, Jiangsu, PRC.
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www.dawnrays.com
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